Penny Nymark

Molecular Alterations in Asbestos-Related Lung Cancer





People and Work Research Reports 90

Molecular Alterations in Asbestos-Related Lung Cancer

Penny Nymark

People and Work Research Reports 90

Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Helsinki, Finland

MOLECULAR ALTERATIONS IN ASBESTOS-RELATED LUNG CANCER

PENNY NYMARK

Health and Work Ability Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland

Department of Pathology Haartman Institute and HUSLAB University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

Department of Biosciences Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki, Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination with the permission of the Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, in the Small Lecture Hall of the Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on June 11th, 2010, at 12 o ´clock noon.

Helsinki 2010

SUPERVISED BY

Sisko Anttila, MD, Ph.D Health and Work Ability Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Helsinki, Finland

Sakari Knuutila, PhD Department of Pathology Haartman Institute and HUSLAB University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Central Hospital Helsinki, Finland

REVIEWED BY

Janna Saarela, MD, PhD Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland (FIMM) Biomedicum Helsinki 2U Helsinki, Finland

Veli-Matti Kosma, MD, PhD Department of Pathology and Forensic Medicine Institute of Clinical Medicine School of Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland

OFFICIAL OPPONENT Antti Sajantila, MD, PhD Department of Forensic Medicine Laboratory of Forensic Biology Helsinki University Helsinki, Finland

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
ABSTRACT	11
ABSTRACT IN FINNISH – TIIVISTELMÄ	13
INTRODUCTION	15
 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE 1. LUNG CANCER. 1.1 Epidemiology 1.2 Histology 1.3 Genetics and epigenetics 1.3.1 Methods used in the detection of genetic alterations and gene expression 1.3.2 Gene Ontology (GO) 2. ASBESTOS. 2.1 Characteristics 2.2 Use 2.3 Toxicity and carcinogenicity 2.4 Asbestos and tobacco smoke as co-carcinogens. 3. ASBESTOS-RELATED LUNG CANCER 3.1 Lung cancer risk associated with asbestos exposure. 3.2 Clinical features 3.3 Molecular alterations attributable to asbestos exposure in lung cancer 3.3.1 Genetic alterations. 3.3.2 Signalling pathways 	19 19 21 22 26 28 28 28 29 32 35 35 35 35 36 37 38 38 41
AIMS OF THE STUDY	43
MATERIALS AND METHODS 1. LUNG CANCER PATIENTS AND DNA SAMPLES (I, II and III) 2. CELL LINES (IV) 2.1 Asbestos exposure	44 44 47 47

3. AN	ALYSIS METHODS	48
3.1	Chromosomal and array CGH (I)	48
3.2	Microsatellite analysis for detection of allelic	
	imbalance (II and III)	49
3.3	Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) (II and III)) 52
	3.3.1 Tissue microarrays	52
	3.3.2 Locus-specific FISH	52
	3.3.3 Centromere FISH	54
3.4	Gene expression microarrays (IV)	55
	3.4.1 GO analysis	56
	3.4.2 Clustering	57
	3.4.3 Enriched chromosomal regions	58
RESU	LTS	59
1. ASE	BESTOS-RELATED GENETIC ALTERATIONS IN	
LUN	IG CANCER	59
1.1	Genome-wide copy number alterations (I)	59
1.2	Genetic alterations at 9q (II)	62
	1.2.1 Allelic imbalance	62
	1.2.2 Copy number alterations	65
1.3	Genetic alterations at 2p (III)	66
	1.3.1 Allelic imbalance	66
	1.3.2 Copy number alterations	66
1.4	Polyploidy (II)	69
2. ASI	BESTOS-RELATED GENE EXPRESSION CHANGES	
IN (CELL LINES (IV)	70
2.1	Genes	71
2.2	Biological processes	71
2.3	Enriched chromosomal regions	74
DISCU	JSSION	76
1. GE	NOMIC ALIERATIONS IN ASBESTOS-RELATED	
LUN		76
1.1	Allelic imbalance and copy number alterations	
	at 9q (II)	78
1.2	Allelic imbalance and loss at 2p (III)	80
1.3	Chromosomal regions enriched with asbestos	
	exposure response genes (IV)	83
1.4	Polyploidy and aneuploidy	84
2. DY	SREGULATED BIOLOGICAL PROCESSES IN	
ASE	BESTOS-RELATED LUNG CANCER	85

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	90
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	93
REFERENCES	96

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original publications, referred to in the text by the Roman numerals I–IV as indicated below.

- I Nymark P*, Wikman H*, Ruosaari S, Hollmén J, Vanhala E, Karjalainen A, Anttila S, Knuutila S. Identification of specific gene copy number changes in asbestos-related lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 2006; 66(11):5737–43.
- II Nymark P, Kettunen E, Aavikko M, Ruosaari S, Kuosma E, Vanhala E, Salmenkivi K, Pirinen R, Karjalainen A, Knuutila S, Wikman H, Anttila S. Molecular alterations at 9q33.1 and polyploidy in asbestos-related lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2009; 15(2):468–75.
- III Kettunen E, Aavikko M, Nymark P, Ruosaari S, Wikman H, Vanhala E, Salmenkivi K, Pirinen R, Karjalainen A, Kuosma E, Anttila S. DNA copy number loss and allelic imbalance at 2p16 in lung cancer associated with asbestos exposure. *Br J Cancer*. 2009; 100(8):1336–42. doi 10:1038/sj.bjc. 6605012
- IV Nymark P*, Lindholm PM*, Korpela MV, Lahti L, Ruosaari S, Kaski S, Hollmén J, Anttila S, Kinnula VL, Knuutila S. Gene expression profiles in asbestos-exposed epithelial and mesothelial lung cell lines. *BMC Genomics*. 2007; 8:62.

*Equal contribution

The original publications are reprinted with the permission of their copyright holders. In addition, unpublished data is presented.

ABBREVIATIONS

AC	adenocarcinoma
AI	allelic imbalance
AM	alveolar macrophages
aCGH	array CGH
BAC	bacterial artificial chromosome
BEGM	bronchial epithelial cell growth medium
CCA	canonical correlation analysis
CGH	comparative genomic hybridization
сCGH	chromosomal CGH
CIN	chromosomal instability
Cip1	CDK-interacting protein 1
CNA	copy number alteration
CNC	Carney complex
CNV	copy number variation
Cy3	cyanine3
Cy5	cyanine5
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FBS	fetal calf (or bovine) serum
FFPE	formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded
FIOH	Finnish Institute of Occupational Health
FISH	fluorescence in situ hybridization
GCOS	GeneChip opertaing software
GO	Gene Ontology
iGA	iterative Group Analysis
LCLC	large cell lung cancer
LCNEC	large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma

ABBREVIATIONS

LOH	loss of heterozygosity
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MSI	microsatellite instability
miRNA	microRNA
mRNA	messenger RNA
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NF- k B	nuclear facor kappa-B
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
p21	CDK-interacting protein 1
p53	cellular tumour antigen p53
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RMA	Robust Multi-array Average
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNS	reactive nitrogen species
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RR	relative risk
SAPE	streptavidin phycoerythrin
SCC	squamous cell carcinoma
SCE	sister chromatid exchange
SCLC	small cell lung cancer
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SOD	superoxide dismutase
SV40	Simiar virus 40
TMA	tissue microarray
UBA1/7	ubiquitin-like modifier-activating enzyme 1/7
UPD	uniparental disomy
WHO	World Health Organization

Gene symbols are marked in *italics* and according to the guidelines of the Human Genome Organization nomenclature committee (HGNC). Detailed descriptions can be found at http://www.genenames.org/.

ABSTRACT

Background

Asbestos is a well known cancer-causing mineral fibre, which has a synergistic effect on lung cancer risk in combination with tobacco smoking. Several *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments have demonstrated that asbestos can evoke chromosomal damage and cause alterations as well as gene expression changes. Lung tumours, in general, have very complex karyotypes with several recurrently gained and lost chromosomal regions and this has made it difficult to identify specific molecular changes related primarily to asbestos exposure. The main aim of these studies has been to characterize asbestos-related lung cancer at a molecular level.

Methods

Samples from asbestos-exposed and non-exposed lung cancer patients were studied using array comparative genomic hybridization (aCGH) and fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) to detect copy number alterations (CNA) as well as microsatellite analysis to detect allelic imbalance (AI). In addition, asbestos-exposed cell lines were studied using gene expression microarrays.

Results

Eighteen chromosomal regions showing differential copy number in the lung tumours of asbestos-exposed patients compared to those of non-exposed patients were identified. The most significant differences were detected at 2p21–p16.3, 5q35.3, 9q33.3–q34.11, 9q34.13–q34.3, 11p15.5, 14q11.2 and 19p13.1–p13.3 (p<0.005). The alterations at 2p

and 9q were validated and characterized in detail using AI and FISH analysis in a larger study population. Furthermore, *in vitro* studies were performed to examine the early gene expression changes induced by asbestos in three different lung cell lines. The results revealed specific asbestos-associated gene expression profiles and biological processes as well as chromosomal regions enriched with genes believed to contribute to the common asbestos-related responses in the cell lines. Interestingly, the most significant region enriched with asbestos-response genes was identified at 2p22, close to the previously identified region showing asbestos-related CNA in lung tumours. Additionally, in this thesis, the dysregulated biological processes (Gene Ontology terms) detected in the cell line experiment were compared to dysregulated processes identified in patient samples in a later study (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a). Commonly affected processes such as those related to protein ubiquitination, ion transport and surprisingly sensory perception of smell were identified.

Conclusions

The identification of specific CNAs and dysregulated biological processes shed some light on the underlying genes acting as mediators in asbestos-related lung carcinogenesis. It is postulated that the combination of several asbestos-specific molecular alterations could be used to develop a diagnostic method for the identification of asbestos-related lung cancer.

ABSTRACT IN FINNISH – TIIVISTELMÄ

Tausta

Asbesti on tunnettu syöpää aiheuttava mineraalikuitu, jolla on tupakoinnin yhteydessä synergistinen vaikutus keuhkosyövän riskiin. Useat *in vitro-* ja *in vivo* -tutkimukset ovat osoittaneet, että asbesti voi aiheuttaa kromosomivaurioita ja muutoksia geenien ilmentymisessä. Keuhkosyövän karyotyyppi on yleensä hyvin monimutkainen ja toistuvat kromosomialueiden monistumat sekä häviämät ovat yleisiä. Tästä syystä on ollut vaikeaa tunnistaa spesifisiä molekyylitason muutoksia, jotka liittyvät pääasiassa asbestialtistumiseen. Päätavoite näissä tutkimuksissa on ollut asbestiin liittyvän keuhkosyövän tunnistaminen molekyylitasolla.

Menetelmät

Asbestialtistuneiden ja altistumattomien keuhkosyöpäpotilaiden näytteet tutkittiin käyttäen vertailevaa genomista hybridisaatiota mikrosiruilla (aCGH) ja fluoresenssi in situ hybridisaatiota (FISH), joilla havaitaan kromosomialueiden kopiolukumuutokset, sekä mikrosatelliittianalyysia, jolla havaitaan alleeliepätasapaino (AI). Lisäksi asbestialtistuneita solulinjoja tutkittiin käyttäen geeniekspressiomikrosiruja.

Tulokset

Kahdeksallatoista kromosomialueella osoitettiin kopiolukueroja asbestialtistuneiden ja altistumattomien potilaiden näytteiden välillä. Merkittävimmät erot havaittiin kromosomialueilla 2p21–p16.3, 5q35.3, 9q33.3–q34.11, 9q34.13–q34.3, 11p15.5, 14q11.2 ja 19p13.1–p13.3 (p <0,005). Muutokset 2p ja 9q alueilla karakterisoitiin tarkemmin ja varmennettiin käyttäen AI- ja FISH-analyysejä laajemmassa tutkimusaineistossa. Lisäksi mikrosiruilla tutkittiin muutokset geenien ilmentymisessä asbestialtistuksen jälkeen kolmessa eri keuhkosolulinjassa. Tutkimuksessa tunnistettiin asbestialtistukseen liittyviä geenien ilmentymisprofiileja sekä muuttuneita biologisia prosesseja. Lisäksi havaittiin solulinjoille yhteisten asbestiin liittyvien vastegeenien rikastuttamia kromosomaalisia alueita. Merkittävin asbestivastegeenejä sisältävä alue oli 2p22, joka sijaitsee lähellä aiemmin keuhkosyövissä tunnistettua asbestiin liittyviä kopiolukumuutoksia sisältävää aluetta 2p:ssa. Tässä väitöskirjassa vertailtiin myös asbestialtistuneiden solulinjojen muuttuneita biologisia prosesseja (geeniontologiatermejä) niihin muuttuneisiin prosesseihin, joita myöhemmin havaittiin asbestialtistuneiden potilaiden näytteissä (Ruosaari et al., 2008a). Yhteiset muuttuneet prosessit liittyviä tproteiinien ubikitinaatioon, ionikuljetukseen ja yllättävästi hajuaistimukseen.

Johtopäätökset

Spesifisten kopiolukumuutosten ja muuttuneiden biologisten prosessien tunnistaminen asbestiin liittyvässä keuhkosyövässä valottaa taustalla olevia geenejä, jotka toimivat välittäjinä asbestiin aiheuttamassa keuhkokarsinogeneesissä. Useita asbestiin liittyviä molekyylitason muutoksia voitaisiin käyttää asbestiin liittyvän ja liittymättömän keuhkosyövän erottavien diagnostisten menetelmien kehittämisessä.

INTRODUCTION

Asbestos has been used since ancient times by virtue of its flexible yet durable and fire resistant properties. However, it was not until the second half of the 19th century, that the industrial applications of asbestos began to be appreciated and its use increased markedly. The health effects of asbestos exposure had already been noted by Roman naturalists, but the first scientific indication that the fibres were associated with several severe lung diseases came at the end of the 19th century (reviewed in Liddell, 1997; Greenberg, 2004). The epidemiologic breakthroughs detailing the dangers associated with asbestos became publicized in the 1950s and 60s (reviewed in Greenberg, 1982; Newman Taylor, 2009). Nonetheless, the material continued to play an important role in the construction industry until only a few decades ago and the asbestos industry was well over 100 years old before the cancer issues were fully recognized and addressed.

Today the use of asbestos has been banned in most developed countries due to the unequivocal evidence of devastating asbestos-related diseases. However, in developing countries, asbestos is still utilized and WHO has estimated that approximately 125 million workers in the world are still being exposed to asbestos in their daily work environment (WHO, 2007). Moreover, asbestos may not only affect workers, but also their families, through the exposure of fibres brought home on shoes, clothes, skin and hair (Kilburn *et al.*, 1985). Therefore, the number of exposed may be significantly greater. Due to the long latency period of 30–40 years, asbestos-related diseases will continue to burden public health also in developed countries (LaDou, 2004). Today, 20–40% of adult men in the world are thought to have held jobs that could have entailed asbestos exposure to some extent (Lin *et al.*, 2007). Joiners, plumbers, electricians, painters, shipyard workers, builders, engineers, and asbestos miners are at the greatest risk (Currie *et al.*, 2009).

Asbestos causes a variety of malignant pleural diseases, such as asbestosis, mesothelioma and lung cancer. Mesothelioma is commonly recognized as the primary asbestos-related cancer type. Nevertheless, it has been estimated that asbestos gives rise to an equal number or possibly even more lung cancer cases as compared to mesothelioma. Various excess lung cancer to mesothelioma ratios have been reported, but a widely cited estimate is to expect between one and two excess lung cancers for every case of mesothelioma (reviewed in Henderson *et al.*, 2004). Of all lung cancers in the world, an estimated 5–7% are attributable to occupational asbestos exposure (LaDou, 2004; Kamp, 2009).

Cancer arises from somatic cells which have been affected by successive molecular alterations occurring in a progressive, almost evolutionary, manner. These alterations evoke changes in normal cell functions, giving the cells the ability to transform into malignant derivatives. The six essential changes in cell physiology that have been proposed to dictate the malignant growth of perhaps all tumours are self-sufficiency in growth signals, insensitivity to growth-inhibitory signals, evasion of apoptosis, limitless replicative potential, sustained angiogenesis and tissue invasion and metastasis. This multistep process normally takes several years to develop (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). The molecular alterations can be either genetic (physical alterations of the DNA sequence, e.g. copy number alterations [CNA]) or epigenetic (e.g. promoter hypermethylation inhibiting gene transcription) leading to changes in the expression of genes critical for the maintenance of normal homeostasis. The genetic alterations may cause the duplication or even amplification of so called oncogenes encoding for molecules (e.g. proteins) able to directly or indirectly enhance the ability of the cells to become malignant. Deletion of genetic material may cause the loss of tumour suppressor genes encoding for molecules involved in the prevention of malignant transformation (Ponder, 2001). During the past few decades it has become more and more clear that it is not single oncogenes and tumour suppressors, but rather complex interactions between these genes and their products that are responsible for the changes in cell physiology

required for cell transformation. Several genes have also been found to act as both oncogenes and tumour suppressors depending on the context or stage of tumourigenesis (Bissell *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, some humans may have inherited a genetic alteration that is "advantageous" for the development of cancer. However, the majority of cancer-causing molecular alterations are environmental and life-style related (Peto, 2001; Boffetta, 2006).

Lung cancer is a complex type of cancer and numerous genetic alterations are involved in its pathogenesis. The karyotype is chaotic, but recurrent alteration patterns have been identified during several decades of study (Balsara et al., 2002). It is well known that tobacco smoking is the primary predictor of lung cancer. However, smoking in combination with asbestos exposure greatly elevates the risk of lung cancer in an almost multiplicative manner (Vainio et al., 1994). Asbestos exposure alone also increases the risk of lung cancer, but asbestos workers have been reported to have the highest percentage of smokers compared to any other identifiable population; between 64-78% depending on the type of occupation (Lange et al., 2006). This has proved to be one of the greatest challenges in studying asbestos-related lung cancer, i.e. the fact that two environmental exposures are often involved in the process of malignancy development. The actual cause of each individual lung cancer has been exceedingly difficult to elucidate. In addition, the long latency period from exposure to development of lung cancer makes it difficult to draw conclusions about the molecular mechanisms generating the disease. Many of the molecular alterations may be secondary or so called passenger alterations, induced by the primary possibly exposurespecific alterations, which affect the stability of the genome (Herceq et al., 2007). Currently, there are no clinically useful molecular alterations that can differentiate between asbestos-related and non-related lung cancer (Kamp, 2009).

Asbestos-related lung cancer has a very dismal prognosis, as do all lung cancers, even though the risk groups are well known. The current clinical methods for screening for lung cancer in risk groups have not improved mortality during the last few decades (Silvestri *et al.*, 2009). The discovery of distinct molecular alterations related to asbestos exposure may broaden the potential of molecular diagnostics in these cancers. Today the etiology is defined based on occupational history and pulmonary fibre count. Potential specific asbestos-related alterations could also assist in the detection of early stage cancer in risk groups. Finally, understanding the molecular basis may eventually lead to the development of specific therapeutic approaches.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1. Lung cancer

1.1 Epidemiology

During the 20th century lung cancer developed from a rare disease into a true epidemic and it is currently the most common type of cancer in terms of both incidence and mortality, being responsible for over 1.2 million deaths every year in the world. In Europe and North America, lung cancer is the primary cause of cancer related death and it is becoming increasingly more common also in Asia, Latin America and Africa (Figure 1). Overall, the rate of lung cancer among men is decreasing, while it is increasing among women (Figure 2; reviewed in Brennan *et al.*, 2000; Toh, 2009).

Smoking has been well known to be the primary risk factor for lung cancer since the 1920's (Tylecote, 1927). The risk depends largely on the amount and duration of smoking, with a clear dose-dependent response having been shown in virtually all studies. Roughly, it can be estimated that approximately 1 in 10 lifetime smokers will develop lung cancer (reviewed in Hansen, 2008).

Occupational exposures mainly target the lung through inhalation and indeed, these kinds of exposures play an important role in the risk of developing lung cancer. Metals such as arsenic, ionizing radiation such as radon gas and respirable fibers such as asbestos are some well documented exposure types that are able to induce lung cancer (Siemiatycki *et al.*, 2004). An estimated 10–15% of all lung cancers are caused by factors other than active smoking (Samet *et al.*, 2009). Asbestos exposure is the leading cause of occupational cancer in most countries and it is believed to be the second most important cause of lung cancer after tobacco smoking (Anttila *et al.*, 1993; Hagemeyer *et al.*, 2006). A)

Lung, Males Age-Standardized incidence rate per 100,000



B)

Lung, Females Age-Standardized incidence rate per 100,000



Figure 1. **Geographical distribution of lung cancer.** Distribution of lung cancer incidence in A) males and B) females. Figure produced in GLOBOCAN 2002 (Ferlay *et al.*, 2004)



Figure 2. **Lung cancer incidence.** Lung cancer incidence in Finnish males and females between 1955 and 2005. Figure obtained from the Finnish Cancer Registry (www.cancerregistry.fi).

The prognosis for lung cancer is generally very poor, depending largely on the histology and stage at diagnosis. In approximately threequarters of the cases, distant metastatic spread is evident at the time of diagnosis, resulting in a five-year survival of about only 15% (reviewed in Hansen, 2008). During the past decades none of the screening programs tested have shown any clear benefits (reviewed in Field *et al.*, 2008).

1.2 Histology

Lung cancer can be divided into two major histological types, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and small cell lung cancer (SCLC). This distinction is clinically important because of the differences in presentation, metastatic spread and response to therapy. NSCLC can further be divided into the major subtypes adenocarcinoma (AC), squamous cell carcinoma (SCC) and large cell lung cancer (LCLC). Minor subtypes include adenosquamous carcinoma (AC/SCC) and large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC) (Hansen, 2008; Travis *et al.*, 2004).

AC accounts for around 40% of all lung cancers. AC is the predominant subtype among young, female and non-smoking patients (Lee *et al.*, 1998; Subramanian *et al.*, 2007). It has also been postulated that AC is the most common subtype among asbestos-exposed patients. However, this finding remains controversial and not all studies have reported such an association (reviewed in Henderson *et al.*, 2004). AC usually originates in the peripheral lung tissue (Hansen, 2008).

SCC accounts for about 30–35% of all lung cancers. It is strongly associated with smoking, with over 90% occurring in smokers. The primary location of SCC is central and more often in the segmental bronchi than in the lobar and mainstem bronchi (Hansen, 2008). The frequency of this type of tumour has been declining progressively, while that of AC has been increasing possibly due to the introduction of low-tar filtered cigarettes. The filters change the composition and anatomic distribution of the carcinogenic particles (LaCroix *et al.*, 2008). In addition, smokers of low-tar filtered cigarettes seem to inhale smoke more deeply than smokers of non-filtered cigarettes, which may cause the exposure of more peripheral areas of the lungs (reviewed in Hoffmann *et al.*, 1996).

LCLCs comprise between 5 and 10% of all lung cancers and are poorly differentiated tumours which often arise in the lung periphery. There are several variants of LCLC, for example LCNEC (Hansen, 2008).

AC/SCC is a combination of each histological type. It is rather rare, accounting for only approximately 0.6–2.3% of all lung cancers (Hansen, 2008).

SCLC is responsible for around 25% of all lung cancers and includes also combined SCLC, presenting cells of any NSCLC subtype to different degrees. Together with SCC, SCLC is strongly associated with tobacco smoking and often occurs in central bronchial locations (Sun *et al.*, 2007; Hansen, 2008).

1.3 Genetics and epigenetics

The continuous exposure of the lungs to carcinogens leads to the accumulation of molecular alterations and lung cancer is characterized by its large number of genetic and epigenetic alterations, affecting almost all chromosomes (reviewed in Panani *et al.*, 2006). Many of the alterations are due to the widespread genetic instability affecting these tumours, but also recurrent alterations, apparently associated with the initiation and progression of the tumours, can be observed.

The genetic alterations are mainly unbalanced with balanced translocations being rare (Balsara *et al.*, 2002). Frequent recurrent CNA in the lung cancer genome include loss of 3p, 4, 5q, 8p, 13q and 17p and gain of 1q, 3q, 5p and 8q (Figure 3; reviewed in Panani *et al.*, 2006; Nymark, 2009; Baudis, 2009). Different histological types exhibit slightly different patterns, for example gain of 3q has been associated with SCC (Tonon *et al.*, 2005), while gain of 5p has been shown to be the most frequent change (60%) in AC (Weir *et al.*, 2007).

CNAs often lead to allelic imbalance (AI), where one of the two alleles of a gene is lost, gained or amplified. AI can also be copy number neutral, where one allele has been lost but the other duplicated, which is referred to as uniparental disomy (UPD) (reviewed in Tuna *et al.*, 2009). Loss of heterozygosity (LOH) describes the type of AI where one of the two alleles has been lost. If the other allele has already been inactivated by some other means, for instance by mutation or methylation, this may lead to a total loss of activity, e.g. of a tumour suppressor. In cancer, whole, terminal and interstitial chromosome deletions, as well as unbalanced translocations have been shown to lead to LOH (Ogiwara *et al.*, 2008). In lung cancer, AI can be detected in most of the regions with CNA, though it is especially frequent at two regions; 3p14, which contains the tumour suppressor gene *FHIT*, and 3p21.3 (Zabarovsky *et al.*, 2002).

Another type of genetic alteration is point mutation, which in lung cancer is common, especially in the genes *TP53*, *EGFR* and *KRAS*. These point mutations have, in addition to LOH at 3p, 9p21 and 17p13, been demonstrated to be early events during multistage lung carcinogenesis. Other CNA are thought to be relatively late events associated with tumour phenotype and metastatic behaviour (reviewed in Herbst *et al.*, 2008; Soh *et al.*, 2008). However, different types of exposures have been linked to different types of alterations and e.g. tobacco smoke is closely associated with point mutations and promoter hypermethylation (reviewed in Hecht, 1999), while asbestos exposure tends to be associ-



Figure 3. Recurrent copy number alterations in lung cancer. Figure obtained from the Progenetix database, www.progenetix. net (Baudis *et al.*, 2001; Baudis, 2009).

ated with DNA loss and chromatid breaks (Huang *et al.*, 1978; Hei *et al.*, 1992; Lohani *et al.*, 2002; Msiska *et al.*, 2009; Pelin *et al.*, 1995; Valerio *et al.*, 1980; Xu *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, the early changes in tobaccorelated and asbestos-related lung cancer may be different. An example can be made of the tumours in smokers and non-smokers, in which the genetic alterations appear to differ extensively. The chromosomal regions 9p21, 12p, 16p, 16q, 17q and 19q13 have been reported to be affected by alterations more frequently in AC of never-smokers than in those of smokers (Sanchez-Cespedes *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, *TP53* and *KRAS* mutations have been associated with lung cancer of smokers, while *EGFR* mutations are associated with those of non-smokers. These differences have been shown to be important tools in the diagnosis, prognosis, clinical follow-up and targeted therapies in lung cancer patients (reviewed in Subramanian *et al.*, 2008).

Inherited genetic alterations or polymorphisms, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) and DNA copy number variations (CNV) may be advantageous for the development of cancer. Indeed, lung cancer susceptibility has been shown to be increased in several inherited cancer-syndromes caused by germ-line mutations in TP53, RB1 and EGFR. Lung cancer itself is, however, rarely familial and few large families with multiple cases of lung cancer are available for genome wide association studies of SNPs and CNVs (reviewed in Herbst et al., 2008). Nevertheless, a few large studies have identified an association between lung cancer susceptibility and SNPs at 6q23-25, 13q13.3 and 15q24-15q25.1 (You et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2008). The region at 15q contains two genes encoding subunits of the nicotine acetylcholine receptor alpha, which is regulated by nicotine exposure. Furthermore, deleting CNVs in the tobacco-carcinogen detoxifying gene GSTM1 has been shown to increase the risk of lung cancer (Lam et al., 2009). Several other genes related to the metabolism of tobacco-borne carcinogens, as well as genes associated with DNA repair and inflammation, have been studied as hereditary risk factors, but the results require verification in large study populations (reviewed in Foulkes, 2008).

The ploidy is often altered in lung cancer. Normal human lung cells show a diploid genome, but in lung cancer, the presence of a near-triploid genome is common and around 50–60% of all lung cancers can be said to be polyploid containing >57 chromosomes per nucleus (Testa *et al.*,

1992; Hoglund *et al.*, 2004). LCLC more often shows polyploidy than the other histological types (Desinan *et al.*, 1996). Polyploidy has been associated with tumour infiltration into the pleura (Desinan *et al.*, 1996).

Epigenetic alterations are defined as mitotically or meiotically heritable changes in gene expression that are not caused by alterations in the DNA sequence. DNA methylation and histone modification are the two major epigenetic alterations involved in human carcinogenesis. DNA methylation is involved in normal cellular gene expression regulation and abnormal promoter hypermethylation may lead to the silencing of a gene (Jones *et al.*, 2002). In lung cancer, promoter hypermethylation is common in tumour suppressor genes, such as *P16/CDKN2A*, *RASS-F1A* and *RB1* (reviewed in Pfeifer *et al.*, 2009). Histone modifications control the accessibility of the chromatin and may inhibit or activate transcription. These types of modifications have also been implicated in the pathogenesis of lung cancer (Bowman *et al.*, 2006).

CNA, point mutations, inherited genetic variations, polyploidy and epigenetic alterations may lead to changed expression of the affected genes and subsequently to disruption of whole signalling pathways. In addition to affecting the traditional protein coding genes, these alterations may also evoke the dysregulation of other types of genes, e.g. those encoding for microRNAs (miRNAs). A new era in the field of cancer investigation was recently opened with the discovery of these non-coding RNAs, which regulate the expression of an estimated 30% of all human genes. During only a few years of study miRNAs have been shown to be extremely useful in the characterization of cancers (reviewed in Croce, 2009). Several miRNAs have been identified as being dysregulated in lung cancer (Yanaihara et al., 2006). Consequently the main pathways affected in lung cancer are those involved in growth promotion (e.g EGFR), growth inhibition (e.g TP53 and $p16^{INK4a}$ -RB), apoptosis (e.g BCL-2) and DNA repair (reviewed in Sato et al., 2007; Brambilla et al., 2009).

1.3.1 Methods used in the detection of genetic alterations and gene expression

CNAs can be detected by using comparative genomic hybridization (CGH), which was originally developed by Kallioniemi *et al.* (1992). In

this method, fragmented labelled tumour DNA competes with differently labelled, fragmented control DNA in a hybridization to a normal genome. The normal genome may be in the form of a metaphase spread (chromosomal CGH or cCGH) or as several thousands of spotted fragments on a microarray (array CGH or aCGH). The ratio between the signal intensities of the different labels can then be measured automatically and over- or under-representation of genetic material in the tumour DNA is scored.

The different types of AI can be detected by utilizing e.g. microsatellites in the loci of interest and performing fragment analysis on the PCR products from those loci (Slebos *et al.*, 2004). Microsatellites are short sequence repeats in the genome, which may differ in length, i.e. number of repeats, between the two alleles. Patients that are heterozygous for a microsatellite can be analyzed for the presence of AI in that region, in the tumour DNA. The proportion of one allele relative to the other can then be measured at a given microsatellite locus. The allele ratio in the tumour DNA is compared to the allele ratio in normal DNA from the same patient. Basically, microsatellite analysis to detect AI is another way of identifying CNA in tumour samples, but also UPD can be detected with this method in contrast to CGH.

Polyploidy cannot be detected with CGH. Instead flow cytometry or karyotypic analyses for example using fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH), are needed (D'Urso *et al.*, 2010). FISH, which was originally developed by Pinkel *et al.* (1986), uses fluorescent probes, which hybridize to whole chromosomes or to specific chromosomal regions. The probes are applied to interphase, metaphase or tissue preparations and analyzed for the presence of fluorescent signals using a microscope. CNA can also be analyzed by FISH, usually using a centromeric probe together with a locus-specific probe in dual-colour hybridizations.

Gene expression changes in lung tumours compared to normal lung tissue can be studied using high-throughput methods such as gene expression microarrays, which estimate the mRNA expression level of tens of thousands of genes (Ramsay, 1998). There are several different types of microarrays. Today, oligonucleotide arrays are a widely used type; they contain tens of thousands of short sequenced probes designed to match parts of known or predicted genes.

1.3.2 Gene Ontology (GO)

The Gene Ontology (GO) Consortium has attempted to produce a systematic description of genes and their products, classifying them into so called ontologies. There are three major ontologies, namely biological process, molecular function and cellular compartment. These three ontologies are structured vocabularies or networks of terms, where each term is a so-called "child" of one or more than one "parent" term. The child terms are more specialized, while the parent terms are more general (The Gene Ontology Consortium, 2001).

The GO terms can be used to facilitate the interpretation of data from high-throughput analysis methods such as gene expression microarrays. By using the GO annotations, it is possible to analyze genes at group level, i.e. with a common nominator such as biological process. This type of analysis is beneficial in array experiments where the expressions of several thousands of genes are monitored at the same time. Moderate changes in a group of genes operating in the same biological process could reflect significant differential expression of the whole pathway.

In lung cancer, some of the dysregulated biological processes have been reported to be cytokine-cytokine receptor interactions, focal adhesion, the MAPK signalling pathway, DNA replication and repair, protein targeting and transport as well as sodium ion transport (Chang *et al.*, 2007; Dehan *et al.*, 2007; Gusev, 2008).

2. Asbestos

2.1 Characteristics

Asbestos is a common term for industrially refined and produced fibrous silicate minerals. Asbestos can be classified into six distinct mineralogical types based on the chemical composition and physical appearance of the fibres, i.e. chrysotile, crocidolite, amosite, tremolite, anthophyllite, and actinolite. Chrysotile belongs to the serpentine group and is a curly, thin fibre. The other five belong to the amphibole group of minerals, which are longer and needle-like (LaDou, 2004).

The fibers are composed of hydrated magnesium silicates containing various amounts of iron. Amosite and crocidolite contain the largest amounts of iron ($\sim 27\%$) within the crystal structure, while chrysotile

contains less iron (2–6%) on the surface of its crystal structure. Iron is believed to be important in the biological effects of asbestos, since it can catalyze reactions which generate reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS), which in turn induce oxidative stress in the cells (Peterson *et al.*, 1998).

2.2 Use

The use of asbestos peaked in Western Europe, North America, Japan and Australia in the 1970's when it was advertised as a miracle compound for its flexible and fire resistant properties, although the first suspicions about its harmful effects had been reported as early as 1898 (reviewed in Tweedale, 2001; Virta, 2006). Asbestos fibres can be found in a multitude of products such as heat, fire and acid resistant coatings, gaskets, pipes, cement, insulation, flooring, roofing and several other types of building material (Figure 4), as well as in lawn furniture, asphalt, car brakes and stage curtains (Figure 5; reviewed in Virta, 2005). A cigarette with a supposedly health protective filter containing crocidolite asbestos was even launched in 1952 and sold at least until 1956 (Figure 6) (Longo *et al.*, 1995).



Figure 4. End-use for asbestos in the United States in 1965. Figure produced with data from Virta, 2005.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE



Figure 5. **A 1950's advertisement for asbestos in Harper's magazine.** Figure reproduced with permission from the UK Asbestos Services (www. asbestosservices.com).

Today the majority of the asbestos produced is used in Eastern Europe, Latin America and Asia (Consensus Report, 1997; LaDou, 2004; Lin *et al.*, 2007). In most of the Western world and in Japan, the use of asbestos in manufacturing or building has been banned or at least subject to strict control for the last 20–30 years, and asbestos demolition work is tightly regulated by law. In Finland, the use of asbestos has been forbidden in building materials since 1988, but a complete ban on asbestos was introduced as late as 1994 (Finnish government decision 1380/1994). The leading asbestos producing countries are Russia, China, Kazakhstan, Canada and Brazil (Hetherington, 2008). Chrysotile is the most commonly used and economically important asbestos type (LaDou, 2004).



Figure 6. A 1960 advertisement for Kent cigarettes in the *New York Mirror* magazine. Micronite filters contained crocidolite asbestos for a few years during the 1950's. Figure reproduced under "fair use" from Levin, 1987.

2.3 Toxicity and carcinogenicity

The genotoxic and carcinogenic effects of asbestos depend largely on the fibre's chemical composition and structure as well as the cell environment (Mossman *et al.*, 1998). A number of *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that the longer the fibre, the more carcinogenic it is *per se* (Donaldson et al., 1989). However, other researchers have claimed that fibres of all lengths induce pathological responses and no type of asbestos should be considered as being non-carcinogenic, simply based on its fibre length (Dodson *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, on an epidemiological basis, it has been difficult if not impossible to establish such a hypothesis, since asbestos workers are often exposed to a mixture of different fibre types and sizes (Anttila *et al.*, 1993).

Due to the metals, the fibre structure and their bio-persistence, the amphiboles are thought to be more pathogenic in the human body compared to chrysotile. In contrast to chrysotile asbestos, which becomes fragmented and cleared from the lungs, amphiboles are considered to be totally insoluble in human lung (Stanton *et al.*, 1972; Bernstein *et al.*, 2006). However, there is considerable controversy regarding the malignancy risks associated with chrysotile exposure. It has been estimated that several hundred times the levels of amphibole fibres are needed to induce a similar risk of malignancy with chrysotile (reviewed in Kamp, 2009). Nevertheless, there is considerable pathological as well as experimental evidence that also chrysotile is highly carcinogenic (Nicholson, 2001; Pezerat, 2009; Suzuki *et al.*, 2005). In fact, it has been established that chrysotile is as potent as crocidolite in its ability to cause lung cancer, even though it is 2–4 times less potent in evoking mesothelioma (Landrigan *et al.*, 1999).

Asbestos fibres enter into the lungs by inhalation. Once inside the lungs, the fibres are surrounded by alveolar macrophages (AM). The AM deposit a protein coating around the fibres, which are then referred to as asbestos bodies (see cover picture of this thesis). However, due to the larger size of the fibres compared to the AM, so called frustrated phagocytosis may take place, leading to elevated release of ROS and RNS (Mossman *et al.*, 1998). Amphibole fibres contain high levels of associated mono- di- and trivalent metals such as iron and it has also been proposed that asbestos is toxic by the particular way iron is bound to the fibre's surface, enabling generation of ROS and RNS (Lund *et al.*, 1992; Gazzano *et al.*, 2007).





In addition to the generation of ROS/RNS, the main mechanisms behind the toxic effects of asbestos are thought to be alterations in mitochondrial function, mechanical disturbance of cell cycle progression, and activation of several signal transduction pathways (reviewed in Jaurand, 1997; Mossman et al., 1998; Upadhyay et al., 2003; Figure 7). Many of these effects are due to the triggering of universal cellular responses, induced by several types of cytotoxic substances. However, in vitro studies have also shown that asbestos fibres are clastogenic (able to induce disruptions and breaks in chromosomes), even though they are not mutagenic in the Ames assay (Daniel, 1983; Hei et al., 1992). These genetic alterations are thought to contribute to the carcinogenic effects of asbestos. Experimental studies as well as studies on lymphocytes from asbestos workers, have demonstrated asbestos-induced clastogenicity, involving DNA single and double strand breaks, deletions, increased sister chromatid exchanges (SCE) and formation of micronuclei (Dopp et al., 1997; Dopp et al., 2005; Fatma et al., 1991; Fatma et al., 1992; Hardy et al., 1995; Lu et al., 1994; Marczynski et al., 1994; Hei et al., 1995; Msiska et al., 2009; Hei et al., 1992; Huang et al., 1978; Lohani et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2007). DNA double-strand breaks are the most severe types of DNA damage that can lead to translocations and chromosomal instability (CIN), since they are more difficult to repair than for example DNA single-strand breaks. Crocidolite asbestos has been shown to be able to induce greater amounts of DNA double-strand breaks than silica and titanium dioxide (Msiska et al., 2009). In addition, asbestos has been reported to cause abnormal chromosome segregation, which can not only lead to chromosomal deletions and other DNA alterations but also to aneuploidy (Fatma et al., 1991). The fibres have also been shown to sterically block cytokinesis, leading to binucleated cells and consequently polyploidy (Jensen et al., 1996).

Several studies have shown that asbestos is able to induce transformation of both murine and human cells (reviewed in Barrett *et al.*, 1989). Nevertheless, the exact molecular mechanism behind asbestos-related carcinogenesis is still unresolved. It is thought to be very complex, probably involving several parallel pathways (reviewed in Nymark *et al.*, 2008).

2.4 Asbestos and tobacco smoke as co-carcinogens

Asbestos elevates the risk of contracting lung cancer in non-smokers, but the risk seems to increase even more significantly in smokers, indicating that tobacco smoke and asbestos act as co-carcinogens in a synergistic manner (Nelson *et al.*, 2002). Various joint effects ranging from less than additive to more than multiplicative have been reported, but the generally accepted model that seems to fit the best is a more than additive or less than multiplicative one (Henderson *et al.*, 2004).

Several mechanisms are likely to contribute to the synergistic effects of these two carcinogens. For example, there are studies demonstrating that cigarette smoke augments the penetration of asbestos fibres in rat tracheal explants by an oxygen radical-mediated mechanism (Churg *et al.*, 1989). Tobacco smoke may also interfere with the clearance of asbestos fibres from the lungs (Henderson *et al.*, 2004). Conversely, tobacco carcinogens are known to be adsorbed onto the surface of asbestos fibres increasing their uptake into the cells (Fournier *et al.*, 1986; Nelson *et al.*, 2002). In addition, ROS have been observed to alter the metabolism of the tobacco carcinogen, benzo[a]pyrene, by inhibiting its detoxification pathways (Flowers *et al.*, 1991). Yet another hypothesis is that asbestos fibres induce cell proliferation and thereby clonal expansion of cells with heritable tobacco carcinogen-induced alterations in critical genes (Haugen *et al.*, 1982).

3. Asbestos-related lung cancer

In numerical terms, asbestos-related lung cancer is considered to be the most important occupational cancer in the world (Karjalainen *et al.*, 1994). In Finland, there are around 2000 lung cancer cases every year and approximately 90 of these are reported to be of occupational origin and associated with asbestos.
Table 1. Relative risks of lung cancer associated with different levels
of tobacco smoke and asbestos exposure. Modified from Gustavsson
<i>et al.</i> (2002).

Asbestos		Smoking (ci	garettes per day)							
exposure (fiber-	0	1–10	11–20	>20						
years ¹)		RR ²	(95% Cl ³)							
0	1	10.5 (6.7–16.6)	23.3 (15.2–35.8)	45.4 (28.6–71.9)						
>0–0,99	1.8 (0.6–5.5)	18.1 (8.2–40.4)	17.0 (8.8–32.7)	38.5 (17.7–83.4)						
1–2,49	2.7 (0.7–9.5)	12.1 (5.1–29.3)	29.8 (15.1–58.6)	11-20 >20 % Cl ³)						
≥2,5	10.2 (2.5–41.2)	13.56 (4.6–40)	86.2 (28.8–258.2)	ettes per day) 11–20 >20 % Cl ³) 45.4 (28.6–71.9) 0 (8.8–32.7) 38.5 (17.7–83.4) 8 (15.1–58.6) 36.8 (11.9–113.7) 2 (28.8–258.2) 80.6 (20.2–322.0)						

¹fibers/ml x years,²relative risk,³confidence interval

3.1 Lung cancer risk associated with asbestos exposure

The first associations between asbestos exposure and lung cancer were made in 1935 (Gloyne, 1935; Lynch et al., 1935). Today, there is a large body of epidemiological evidence demonstrating that asbestos exposure increases the risk of lung cancer and, together with tobacco smoke, the risk is significantly enhanced as described above in Section 2.4 (reviewed in Kamp, 2009). Not unexpectedly, the risk is highly dependent on the duration and amount of exposure as demonstrated in Table 1 (Gustavsson et al., 2002). Depending on the study, the relative risk (RR) of lung cancer due to asbestos exposure has been estimated to be between 0.83 and 25, due to smoking between 1.78 and 10.85 and for both exposures combined, between 4.51 and 53.24 (reviewed in Lee, 2001; Reid et al., 2006; Wraith et al., 2007). Inaccuracies in both self-reported occupational exposure and in differences in the exposure level depending on the type of work have made it very difficult to determine the actual RR associated with asbestos exposure and smoking on their own or in combination. This may explain the broad range of RR in different studies (Bakke et al., 2001).

Asbestos-related lung cancer is largely gender dependent, but this is due to the low numbers of female workers in the construction, shipyard and asbestos industries. The ratio of men to women among asbestosrelated lung cancer patients is approximately 32:1, compared to about 4.5:1 for all lung cancers (Karjalainen *et al.*, 1994).

3.2 Clinical features

Asbestos exposure has been associated with lower-lobe and a peripheral location of the tumour as well as with AC histology in some studies (Anttila *et al.*, 1993; Karjalainen *et al.*, 1994; Paris *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, tobacco smoking has been associated with upper-lobe and central location as well as SCC and SCLC. However, the asbestos-related observations remain controversial, since not all studies have detected such associations (Lee *et al.*, 1998; reviewed in Henderson *et al.*, 2004). The contrasting results may be due to different types of exposures in different populations. For example, Finnish asbestos workers have often been exposed to larger amounts of antophyllite and crocidolite than those reported in Britain and North America, which have been primarily exposed to chrysotile (Anttila *et al.*, 1993).

Asbestosis is a type of pleural fibrosis, i.e. chronic inflammation and scarring of the lung tissue caused by the inhaled fibres (Huggins *et al.*, 2004). While it has been proposed that asbestosis must precede the development of asbestos-related lung cancer, there is considerable evidence that lung cancer can develop also without the presence of asbestosis. Indeed, asbestos has been shown to be able to act as an independent carcinogen on all the critical steps of malignant transformation of a cell, i.e. initiation, promotion and progression (reviewed in Kamp, 2009). Nevertheless, it is generally agreed that the presence of asbestosis greatly increases the risk of lung cancer in a manner that is similar to the presence of other types of pulmonary fibrosis. Whether asbestosis is simply a marker of high-dose asbestos exposure or if it is necessary for attributing an individual's lung cancer to asbestos exposure, remains a matter of debate (reviewed in Hessel *et al.*, 2005).

3.3 Molecular alterations attributable to asbestos exposure in lung cancer

The fact that most asbestos-exposed lung cancer patients are also tobacco smokers has made it very difficult to differentiate the asbestos-related molecular changes from those attributable to tobacco carcinogens by molecular epidemiology (Nelson *et al.*, 2002). However, several attempts have been made and some molecular alterations associated with asbestos have been identified. Many of the studies are experimental, but a few have also been performed on primary lung cancer samples. Some of the most noteworthy alterations, which have been reported more than once, are listed in Table 2.

3.3.1 Genetic alterations

A few CNA have been associated with asbestos exposure in lung cancer. For example, Dopp and co-workers have demonstrated on experimental level that the centromeric regions of chromosomes 1 and 9 are affected by DNA breakage following asbestos exposure in human amniotic fluid cells and lymphocytes (Dopp *et al.*, 1997; Lohani *et al.*, 2002). Another study has shown that loss of one or both copies of chromosome 5, monosomy of chromosome 19 and trisomy of chromosome 8 are common changes in five asbestos-transformed tumorigenic bronchial epithelial cell lines compared to the parental non-tumorigenic cell line. In addition, the asbestos-transformed cell lines display hypoaneuploidy with 42–44 chromosomes compared to the parental cell line with hyperaneuploidy containing 46–50 chromosomes (Suzuki *et al.*, 2001). In contrast, as mentioned before asbestos has also been shown to cause polyploidy *in vitro* (Jensen et al., 1996). Both aneuploidy and polyploidy may lead to malignant cell transformation (Storchova *et al.*, 2008).

All of the chromosomes mentioned above have also been reported to be affected by alterations to different degrees in lung cancer in general (Figure 3; Baudis *et al.* 2001; Baudis, 2009). However, based on these results, in asbestos-related lung cancer they may potentially be primary alterations appearing at an early stage of carcinogenesis. In fact, none of these chromosomes or regions appears to be affected by early changes in lung cancer in general (reviewed in Herbst *et al.*, 2008; Soh *et al.*, 2008). Table 2. Alterations in chromosomes, genes and pathways, attributable to asbestos exposure in lung cancer. Modified from (Nymark *et al.*, 2008).

Chromosome/ biological process	Alteration	Carcinogenic association	Type of study	References
chrom. 1	break at the centromere		in vitro	(Dopp et al., 1997; Lohani <i>et al.</i> , 2002)
chrom. 3	LOH at 3p14 LOH at 3p21	FHIT exon loss possible down-regulation of tumour suppressors	primary tumour samples	(Nelson <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Marsit <i>et al.</i> , 2004)
chrom. 9	LOH/homozygous deletion at 9p21.3 break at the centromere	loss of P16/CDKN2A	<i>in vitro</i> ; primary tumour samples	(Dopp et al., 1997; Andujar et al., 2010)
chrom. 19	monosomy Al and loss at 19p13	possible down-regulation of tumour suppressors	<i>in vitro;</i> primary tumour samples	(Suzuki <i>et al.</i> , 2001; Ruosaari <i>et al.</i> , 2008b)
Whole genome	Polyploidy	Aneuploidy and CIN	in vitro	(Jensen <i>et al.</i> ., 1996; Jaurand, 1997)
Oxidative stress and inflammation	up-regulation of the NF-ĸB pathway	tumour promotion through transcriptional activation of proto- oncogenes (e.g. <i>c-myc</i>)	in vitro; in vivo	(Xie et al., 2000; Yang <i>et al.</i> , 2006 and many more as reviewed in Shukla <i>et al.</i> , 2003b)
	up-regulation of TNFa through NF-ĸB	enhances the interactions between cells and fibres by increasing the binding of asbestos to tracheal epithelial cells	in vitro	(Xie et al., 2000; Cheng <i>et al.</i> , 1999 and many more as reviewed in Shukla <i>et al.</i> ., 2003b)
	phosphorylation/	accumulative ROS generation	in vitro	(Zanella <i>et al.</i> ., 1999; Wang <i>et al.</i> .,
	activation of EGFR	blocking of apoptosis		2006 and many more as reviewed in Shukla of al 2003h)
		activation of the MAPK/ERK pathway		
		cell proliferation	in vivo	
	activation of MAPK/ERK pathway (e.g. <i>ERK</i> genes)	tumour promotion through activa- tion of AP-1 dependent proto-onco- genes (e.g. <i>c-fos</i>)	in vitro; in vivo	(Mossman <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Wang <i>et al.</i> , 2006 and many more as reviewed in Shukla <i>et al</i> , 2003b)
	redistribution of	cell proliferation	in vivo	(Tan <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Fattman <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
	extracellular SOD and intracellular glutathione	decreased resistance against ROS/ RNS		
DNA repair	up-regulation of p53	decreased tumour suppressor activity possibly due to mutations	<i>in vitro</i> ; primary tumour samples	(Pääkkö et al., 1998; Liu et al., 1998 and many more as reviewed in Kamp, 2009)
Mitochondrial activity and	activation/inhibition of <i>BCL2</i> and <i>BCL2</i> -like genes	apoptotic resistance	in vitro	(Narasimhan <i>et al</i> , 1998; Kamp et al., 2002; Miura <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
apoptosis	apoptotic bypass	ROS generation feedback loop through mitochondrial dysfunctions	in vitro	(Shukla <i>et al</i> , 2003a; Yuan <i>et al</i> , 2004)

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

As noted previously, asbestos has primarily been associated with deletions, breaks and fragments in the genome, while smoking is likely to cause point mutations and aberrant methylation of genes. The *P16/CDKN2A* gene has been found to be affected by both epigenetic (hypermethylation) and genetic (homozygous deletion and rare point mutations) alterations in lung cancer. In a recent study on primary lung cancer samples, homozygous deletions were found to correlate significantly with asbestos exposure, while methylation of the gene was confirmed to correlate with smoking (Andujar *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, *P16/CDKN2A* is generally affected by homozygous deletions also in mesothelioma (reviewed in (Andujar *et al.*, 2010)).

Another chromosomal region, that seems to be affected more frequently in asbestos-related than in non-related lung cancer, is 3p. LOH at 3p21.3 (Marsit *et al.*, 2004) and 3p14 (*FHIT*) have been linked with asbestos exposure in primary lung cancer (Nelson *et al.*, 1998; Pylkkänen *et al.*, 2002b). However, this may be the effect of the asbestos-induced clonal expansion of cells with a tobacco smoke-related alteration, since these regions are often also affected in lung cancer without asbestos association. Reduced expression of *FHIT* has been shown to be equally frequent in both exposed and non-exposed lung cancer patients, indicating that the gene is silenced by some additional mechanism in lung cancer of non-exposed patients (Pylkkänen *et al.*, 2002b). Indeed, this gene is frequently hypermethylated in smokers with early stage SCC (Kim *et al.*, 2004).

TP53 has been one of the most extensively studied genes in asbestosrelated lung cancer, as it is in cancer in general. This gene has been shown to be up-regulated by asbestos exposure and abnormal accumulation of p53 is more frequent in tumours and serum of asbestos-exposed patients compared to non-exposed subjects (Nuorva *et al.*, 1994). Some studies have associated TP53 mutations with asbestos exposure in lung cancer (Liu *et al.*, 1998; Lin *et al.*, 2000; Panduri *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 1995), but the association remains controversial since others have not been able to confirm these results (Husgafvel-Pursiainen *et al.*, 1999). Similarly, there are controversial results regarding the KRAS gene, in which mutations have primarily been associated with smoking in lung cancer. A few studies have also reported correlations between its mutation and asbestos exposure (Husgafvel-Pursiainen *et al.*, 1993; Nelson *et al.*, 1999; Vainio *et al.*, 1993), but not all (Hei *et al.*, 1997; Husgafvel-Pursiainen *et al.*, 1999).

Individual susceptibility to asbestos-related lung cancer has been studied to some extent. However, few studies have been able to efficiently evaluate the actual association of the genetic variation, i.e. whether it modifies the effect of the asbestos exposure or that of tobacco-smoke exposure (reviewed in Neri *et al.*, 2008). The most convincing evidence has come from a study on the *MPO* gene, in which a polymorphism referred to as the A-allele genotype conferred a protective effect against cancer development in asbestos-exposed individuals, i.e. reducing lung cancer susceptibility (Schabath *et al.*, 2002).

3.3.2 Signalling pathways

Cells depend on internal and external signals in order to maintain normal function and the balance of this microenvironment is crucial for normal homeostasis. Changes in the signalling pathways of the internal microenvironment may provide also surrounding cells with growth promoting signals. Expressional changes in central genes caused by molecular alterations in the DNA may alter these signalling pathways (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Carcinogenic substances may also alter gene expression by binding to receptors or transcription factors prior to any genetic alterations. Indeed, asbestos has been shown to bind to several specific proteins involved in the cell cycle as well as in cytoskeletal and mitotic processes (MacCorkle *et al.*, 2006).

The main signalling pathways that have been found to be affected by asbestos exposure include those involved in oxidative stress, inflammation, DNA repair, mitochondrial activity and apoptosis (Figure 7 and Table 2; Upadhyay *et al.*, 2003; Jaurand, 1997). As mentioned before, many of these changes are probably the consequences of normal cellular responses to foreign toxic particles. However, they may nevertheless be involved in the carcinogenic effects of asbestos in combination with the more specific clastogenic properties of the fibres.

Asbestos induced oxidative stress and inflammation directed pathways are intertwined and complex involving the induced expression of several genes such as *TNFa* and NF-KB subunits as well as *EGFR* and *MAPK* (Figure 7, reviewed in Shukla *et al.*, 2003b). In addition, antioxidant enzymes and peptides, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione have been proposed to be involved in the pathogenesis of asbestos-related lung cancer, causing disturbances in the oxidantantioxidant balances and subsequently reducing the cell's capability to protect itself against ROS and RNS (Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2005; Fattman *et al.*, 2006; Pande *et al.*, 2006; Puhakka *et al.*, 2002; Tan *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2006).

DNA damage repair pathways are up-regulated in asbestos-treated cells (Upadhyay *et al.*, 2003). In particular, the genes *TP53* and *CDKN1A* (encoding for Cip1, also known as p21) have been found to be expressed at higher levels following asbestos exposure (Johnson *et al.*, 1997; Piao *et al.*, 2001; reviewed in Kamp, 2009). Over-expression of *TP53* should assist the DNA repair processes, however if the gene is mutated it may render the protein non-functional or malfunctional (Schetter *et al.*, 2009).

Apoptosis protects against abnormal proliferation of cells with non-repairable DNA damage. However, if the apoptotic pathways are bypassed, then the asbestos-associated dysfunctions in the mitochondrial respiratory chain maintain an increased release of ROS, creating a continuous supply of these damaging molecules (Shukla *et al.*, 2003a). Several apoptosis-related genes have been identified in asbestos-induced apoptotic resistance, especially *BCL2* and *BCL2*-related genes seem to have a central role (Kamp *et al.*, 2002; Miura *et al.*, 2006; Narasimhan *et al.*, 1998).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

Lung cancer is strongly associated with inhaled exposures such as tobacco smoke and asbestos fibres. These exposures cause extensive DNA damage on their own as well as acting together as co-carcinogens. The resulting complexity of the lung cancer genome has made it difficult to unravel specific molecular alterations associated with the different exposures. Tobacco-related molecular alterations have been identified, whereas there are no specific molecular biomarkers associated with asbestos-related lung cancer. These molecular correlations could be of importance not only for the diagnosis, prognosis and treatment of the disease, but also in the medico-legal aspects of this occupational disease.

Therefore, the specific aims of this thesis were to:

- Perform a global search for specific gene copy number alterations (CNA) differing between asbestos-related and non-related lung cancer (I)
- Validate and characterize the identified asbestos-related CNAs in a larger study population (II–III)
- Profile expressional changes in genes, pathways and specific chromosomal regions in asbestos-exposed cell lines (IV)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Lung cancer patients and DNA samples (I, II and III)

All the patients used in the studies of this thesis were of Finnish Caucasian origin with histologically confirmed lung cancer. The tumours were classified according to the latest WHO classification (1999/2004). Two different collections of samples were used in the studies (I, II, III; Table 3). All samples were analyzed by electron microscopy with energy dispersive spectrometry to determine their pulmonary asbestos fibre concentration.

The first collection (subsequently referred to as collection 1) consisted of 82 fresh-frozen lung tumour and adjacent normal samples from a set of tissue samples obtained during lung cancer surgery at the Helsinki University Central Hospital in the 1980's and -90's. All the patients were personally interviewed about their smoking habits and work history, and provided their informed consent to take part in the study and to use their tissue. Thirty-six patients were current and 41 were ex-smokers, three were non-smokers; for two patients smoking data was missing. Forty-nine patients had less than 0.5 million fibres per gram of dry lung tissue (later referred to as fibres/g) and 44 of them did not have any known history of asbestos exposure, while 5 had a probable history of exposure. Thirty-three patients had more than 1 million fibres/g and 25 of them had a probable or definite history of asbestos exposure. The Ethical Review Board for Research in Occupational Health and Safety and the Coordinating Ethical Review Board, Helsinki and Uusimaa Hospital District (75/E2/2001) approved the study protocols.

The second collection (later referred to as collection 2) consisted of 135 patients' formalin-fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) tumour samples, which had been obtained through surgery, bronchoscopy, lymph node biopsy or autopsy. Fifty-three patients had less than 0.5 million fibres/g and 82 patients had more than 1 million fibres/g. The samples of these patients had originally been sent to the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health (FIOH) from different regions of Finland for analysis of pulmonary asbestos fibre count as a part of the diagnostic procedure during 1985–2006. Permission to use the diagnostic samples for research purposes was given by The National Agency for Medicole-gal Affairs (4476/33/300/05) and the collection of patient information for research was approved by the Ministry for Social Affairs and Health (STM/2474/2005).

Twenty-eight samples from collection 1 were included in study I (Table 3). Fourteen of the samples originated from patients with a pulmonary fibre count of 5 million fibres/g or more and a definite or probable history of asbestos exposure. The other fourteen samples originated from patients with 0.5 million fibres/g or less and no known history of asbestos exposure. Fourteen of the samples were malignant lung tumours from highly asbestos-exposed patients and 14 tumours were from non-exposed patients that were matched for age, gender, nationality and smoking history. In addition, the distribution of different tumour histologies was matched between the groups (Table 3).

In study II, 139 tumour samples from collections 1 and 2 were used. Seventy-seven samples originating from patients with a fibre count of 1 million or more fibres were included in the exposed group. Sixty-two samples originating from patients with a fibre count of 0.5 million fibres/g or less made up the non-exposed group (Table 3).

In study III, 205 tumour samples from collections 1 and 2 were used. One-hundred and nine samples from patients with a fibre count of 1 million or more fibres were included in the exposed group. Ninty-six samples from patients with a fibre count of 0.5 million fibres/g or less represented the non-exposed group (Table 3).

More detailed information	
nour samples used in studies I–III	
iracteristics of patients and lung tur	d in the original publications.
Table 3. Ch	can be four

		Study I		Study II		Study III	
		Asbestos-	Non-exposed	Asbestos-	Non-exposed	Asbestos-	Non-exposed
		exposed		exposed		exposed	
		(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=77)	(n=62)	(n=109)	(n=96)
Pulmonary	fiber count ¹ , median (range)	11.7 (5.9–145)	0.0 (0.0–0.5)	8.2 (1.1–570)	0.0 (0.0–0.5)	6.6 (1.0–570)	0.0 (0.0–0.5)
Age at time mean ± s.d	e of surgery/biopsy/death, .	62.6 ± 3.2	64.2 ± 8.9	65.6 ± 7.4	62.5 ± 10.2	66.3 ± 7.8	61.2 ± 10.0
Sex (male/f	emale)	14/0	14/0	76/1	60/2	105/4	87/9
Histology ²	AC	ъ	9	32	24	39	32
	SCC	4	S	27	25	39	36
	TCLC	ſ	2	6	ε	11	6
	SCLC	Ļ	1	53	6 ³	12 ³	13
	Other histological types	14	25	46	47	88	99
Stage		7	9	na	na	na	na
	I	L	2	na	na	na	na
		4	Э	na	na	na	na
	IV	2	S	na	na	na	na
Smoking	ex	6	7	na	na	na	na
	current	5	7	na	na	na	na
	pack years, median (range)	34 (20-105)	47 (25–89)	na	na	na	na
Note: studie	is II and III contain partly the same	ime samples and	both studies in	clude the sampl	les used in stud	ly I; na, not avai	lable

Million asbestos tibers/g of dry lung tissue

AC, adenocarcinoma of the lung; SCC, squamous cell carcinoma of the lung; SCLC, small-cell lung cancer; LCLC, large-cell lung carcinoma

³One combined SCLC

⁴ One adenosquamous (AC/SCC) carcinoma

⁵ One pleomorphic lung cancer and one AC/SCC carcinoma

⁶ One AC/SCC carcinoma, two large cell neuroendocrine carcinoma (LCNEC) and one combined LCNEC.

⁷ Two pleomorphic lung cancer, one combined LCNEC and one AC/SCC carcinoma

⁸ One AC/SCC carcinoma, three pleomorphic lung cancers, one combined LCNEC, two LCNEC and one undefined NSCLC ⁹ Four AC/SCC carcinomas, two LCNEC, one combined LCNEC, one undefined NSCLC and one pleomorphic lung cancer

MATERIALS AND METHODS

A minimum of 1 million fibres/g is usually considered a sign of occupational exposure to asbestos and increased risk of lung cancer (Karjalainen *et al.*, 1993; Karjalainen *et al.*, 1994). Up to 1 million fibres/g of dry lung tissue have been reported to be detected in the general population (Churg, 1997). Thus, it was decided to include cases with a fibre count of up to 0.5 million fibres/g in the non-exposed group, but cases with more than 0.5 and less than 1 million fibres/g were excluded from the study to highlight the contrast between exposed and non-exposed.

2. Cell lines (IV)

Three cell lines, A549, BEAS-2B and MeT5A, were used to study gene expression changes related to asbestos exposure. A549 is a human lung adenocarcinoma cell line, while BEAS-2B and MeT5A are human SV40transformed immortalized bronchial epithelial and pleural mesothelial cell lines, respectively. All three cell lines are well characterized and have been widely used in pulmonary research (Fung et al., 1997; Kahlos et al., 2001; Pache et al., 1998; Perkins et al., 1999). The cells were cultured as described previously (Kinnula et al., 1996; Kinnula et al., 1998; Ollikainen et al., 2000; Puhakka et al., 2002). In brief, A549 cells (American Type Culture Collection, Rockville, MD) were cultured in nutrient mixture F-12 growth medium supplemented with 15% fetal calf serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 100 mg/ml streptomycin at 37 °C in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere. The BEAS-2B cells (National Cancer Institute, Laboratory of Human Carcinogenesis) were cultured according to the manufacturer's instructions (bronchial epithelial cell growth medium (BEGM); Clonetics Inc., San Diego, CA). MeT5A cells (American Type Culture Collection) were cultured with RPMI 1640 medium containing 10% heat inactivated FBS, 0.003% L-glutamine, 100U/ml penicillin, and 100 mg/ ml streptomycin at 37 °C in a 5 % CO₂ atmosphere.

2.1 Asbestos exposure

The cells were exposed to crocidolite asbestos in semi confluent cell cultures (2 μ g/cm² for A549 and BEAS-2B cells and 1 μ g/cm² for MeT5A cells; International Union Against Cancer, Johannesburg, South Africa).

The fibre doses were chosen based on previous studies in our laboratory and by others (Kinnula *et al.*, 1996; Ollikainen *et al.*, 2000; Puhakka *et al.*, 2002). Samples were collected from asbestos-exposed and nonexposed parallel control A549 and BEAS-2B cells at 5 time points, i.e. 0h (before any asbestos exposure or other treatment) and at 1h, 6h, 24h, and 48h. Additionally, a sample was collected from A549 cells at 7 days. Samples from the exposed and non-exposed control MeT5A cells were collected at 1h and 48h. The cultures and exposures were conducted on three or more separate tissue culture plates (T25 and T75), and the cells were pooled before RNA extraction to eliminate the need of biological replicate hybridizations.

3. Analysis methods

3.1 Chromosomal and array CGH (I)

DNA was isolated from 28 tumour samples from exposed and nonexposed patients and from peripheral blood from two male references using QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (QIAGEN®, Valencia, CA).

cCGH was performed on all 28 tumour samples. 1 µg of digested and labelled reference (TexasRed-5-dCTP and -dUTP) and tumour (FITC-5dCTP and –dUTP) DNA was used for the hybridizations (NENTM; Life Science Products Inc., Boston, MA). The slides were hybridized overnight at 37°C and washed according to standard protocols (Björkqvist *et al.*, 1998b). Isis CGH program (version 3; MetaSystems GmbH, Altlussheim, Germany) was used for the analysis. Twenty metaphases were analyzed for each sample. Standard cut-off thresholds were set to <0.85 for deletions, >1.17 for gains and >1.5 for amplifications, as described by Björkqvist *et al.* (1998b).

aCGH analyses were conducted on twenty of the same samples (11 exposed and 9 non-exposed; see Table 1 in study I). cDNA microarrays (Human 1.0; Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) containing 12,814 unique clones (97% map to named human genes) were used as described by Wikman *et al.* (2005). Briefly, the hybridizations were performed with 5 µg of digested (25U Alu1/25U Rsa1) reference and tumour DNA, labelled (Cy3 dUTP-tumour, Cy5 dUTP-reference; Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Piscataway, NJ) using a random priming method

(RadPrime DNA Labelling System; Gibco BRL, Gaithersburg, MD). After hybridization at 65°C overnight, the slides were washed, dried in a centrifuge and scanned using Agilent's DNA Microarray Scanner (G2565AA).

Feature Extraction software (Agilent Technologies) was used to measure raw signal intensities from the arrays. Measurements flagged as unreliable were removed from subsequent analysis. Additionally, faulty measurements defined by our own image analysis methods were removed (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2002). In order to identify exposure-related aberrations, the aCGH data from individual patients were analyzed at the group level by comparing gene copy number ratios of the tumours from exposed and non-exposed patients. Exposure-related areas were identified by using overlapping 0.5–1 Mbp segments that were tested for differences in copy numbers as described in the supplemental data of the original publication (I).

3.2 Microsatellite analysis for detection of allelic imbalance (II and III)

Tumour cells were harvested with a Veritas Laser Capture Microdissection Instrument (Arcturus, Mountain View, CA, USA) from 8 μ m tissue sections stained with 1% toluidine blue/0.2% methylene blue solution. DNA was isolated using a PicoPureTM DNA Extraction Kit (Arcturus) following the manufacturer's instructions and stored at -20°C.

In Study II, 15 microsatellite markers were analyzed at 9q31.3–q34.3 with an average spacing of 1.8 Mbp (base pairs 112128955–139756701, 27.7 Mbp, Figure 8a) in 52 fresh-frozen lung tumour and corresponding normal samples from the same patients (collection 1, see section 1. of Materials and Methods). The primer sequences for thirteen of the microsatellite markers (D9S1675, D9S1683, D9S930, D9S289, D9S302, D9S1776, D9S170, D9S1872, D9S195, D9S1116, D9S1831, D9S1793 and D9S1838) were obtained from the database of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). Two additional markers were identified with Alex Dong Li's RepeatFinder *v4.0* (http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/~ali/repeatfinder.html) in the region 9q33.1 (TC-repeat and AC-repeat, base pairs 121021696-121168710, NCBI Build 36.1). Primers were designed with the Primer3 software (Rozen *et al.*, 2000).



Figure 8. Map of microsatellite markers, Bac probes and centromere probes on 9q (A) and 2p (B). The markers and probes are aligned to correspond to each other's physical position on the chromosomes.

In Study III, 14 microsatellite markers (D2S2328, D2S2259, D2S119, D2S2298, D2S2174, D2S2240, D2S2378, D2S2182, D2S391, D2S288, D2S2739, D2S123, D2S2251, D2S2153, D2S378 from NCBI) were analyzed at 2p22–p16.1 with an average spacing of 1.2 Mbp (base pairs 40532153- 57157077, 16.6 Mbp, Figure 8b) in 27 fresh-frozen lung tumour and corresponding normal samples from the same patients (collection 1).

All primers were synthesized and labelled with FAMTM, HEXTM or NEDTM fluorochrome at TIB MOLBIOL Syntheselabor GmbH (Berlin, Germany). The target sequences were amplified by PCR in a volume of 10µl containing 200µM dNTPs, 700 mM of each primer, 1x PCR Buffer containing 15 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 units of HotStarTaq DNA Polymerase (Qiagen) and genomic DNA from normal or tumour samples. An initial 10 min, 95°C denaturation step was followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 40 s, 40 s at the optimized annealing temperature, and 72°C for 1 min. The PCR products were analyzed with a 310 and a 3100-Avant Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster city, CA) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

GeneMapper Analysis Software versions 3.5 and 4 (Applied Biosystems) were used to study the lengths of the allele fragments. The alleles were defined as the two highest peaks within the expected size range. According to standard procedures, the ratio of the alleles' peak heights between a patient's tumour and normal samples was calculated for heterozygous markers. A ratio of 2.0 or higher was scored as AI.

The frequency of AI was compared at the 9q and the 2p regions between the tumours of the exposed and the non-exposed patients. Differences within histological types were tested separately if the number of cases was sufficient for testing. At 9q, tumours with more than 6 informative microsatellite markers were assigned AI at the whole region if more than 25% of the markers showed AI. In addition, AI at 9q33.1 was analyzed separately using 3 microsatellite markers (TC-repeat, ACrepeat and D9S195) covering 0.15 Mbp. Tumours with an informative result from at least 2 markers were included in the analysis and AI at the region was scored for a tumour if more than 1 marker displayed AI. In this thesis, the 2p region was analyzed in the same way as the 9q region. Thus, tumours with more than 5 informative microsatellite markers at 2p were assigned AI at the whole region if more than 25% of the markers showed AI. Also, 2p16 was analyzed separately including 5 markers (D2S2739, D2S123, D2S2251, D2S2153 and D2S378) covering 7.7 Mbp. Tumours with an informative result from at least 2 markers were included in the analysis and AI at the region was scored for a tumour if more than 1 marker showed AI.

In the tumour DNA, the presence of novel peaks of a size that differed from those in the normal DNA by an integer number of repeat units was defined as microsatellite instability (MSI).

Parallel replicates with two to three separate PCR reactions were performed for three markers on five cases to ensure general reproducibility. If replicates were performed, an average of the ratios was used, although the results were highly congruent.

3.3 Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) (II and III)

3.3.1 Tissue microarrays

Five tissue microarray (TMA) blocks were designed with FFPE tumour material from 24–34 patients from collection 2. Two to four tissue cores with tumour material from each patient were included on the arrays. Normal lymph node material, included in each TMA was used as normal controls.

3.3.2 Locus-specific FISH

The region 9q32-34.3 (base pairs 115085166-137867305; Figure 8a) was analyzed by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) using six bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) probes (RP11–10I9, RP11–357D21, RP11–440N22, RP11–228B15, RP11–816F8 and RP11–100C15; BAC PAC Resources, CHORI, Oakland, CA, USA) on 95 tumour samples from both collections (38 fresh-frozen and 57 FFPE; 48 asbestos-exposed and 47 non-exposed).

The region 2p21–p16 (base pairs 46081709–54680411; Figure 8b) was analyzed by FISH using five BAC probes (RP11–1114A19, RP11–347F1, RP11–703K23, RP11–963J22, and RP11–183P21; BAC PAC Resources)

on 151 tumour samples from both collections (67 fresh-frozen and 84 FFPE; 79 asbestos-exposed and 72 non-exposed).

Bacteria containing the BAC sequences were grown according to the manufacturer's instructions (http://bacpac.chori.org/protocols.htm). DNA was extracted with a Qiagen Plasmid Purification Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) and nick-translated (Nick Translation Kit, Vysis, Inc. /Abbott Molecular, Inc., Downers Grove, IL) followed by labelling with biotin-14-dATP (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) or fluorescent Spectrum Green[™] dUTP (Vysis, Inc. /Abbott Molecular, Inc., Downers Grove, IL, USA).

To ensure specific hybridization, the probes were hybridized to normal metaphases and histologically normal FFPE sample sections of lung tissue or lymph nodes. Each probe was then hybridized on pretreated TMA slides and fresh frozen tumour sections. Pretreatment of the slides was performed as follows: after paraffin removal of TMA slides and hydration of slides with fresh-frozen samples, the sections were treated in 0.01M citrate, pH 6.0 at 80 °C for 2 hours and digested with DigestAllTM3 (Zymed Laboratories Invitrogen Immunodetection, San Francisco, CA) at 37 °C for 10 min. Denaturation, dehydrations and hybridizations were performed as previously described (Kettunen et al., 2000). Biotin-labeled probes were visualized with avidin-FITC (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). Post-hybridization washes were performed for directly-labelled (Spectrum GreenTM) probes. All hybridizations were mounted with Vectashield Mounting Medium containing DAPI (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA). On average approximately 100 interphase nuclei, with no overlapping nuclei, were scored (range 30-200).

Samples were analyzed without prior knowledge of the exposure status. The tissue cores on the TMA slides were analyzed without any prior knowledge of which of the cores originated from the same tumour.

At the 9q region, copy numbers for each locus were calculated by subtracting the locus-specific signal counts from the signal count of centromere 9 (FISH*Bright* 550-labeled [red], Qbiogene, Illkirch, France and Kreatech, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Samples with a locus-minus-centromere value higher than 0.9 were considered to carry a gain and with lower than -0.9, a loss. The frequency of gains and losses at each

locus was compared between the asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients' tumours.

At the 2p region, a ratio between the signal counts for each locusspecific probe and the signal count for centromere 2 (SpectrumOrangeTM-labelled, Vysis Inc./Abbott Molecular Inc., IL, USA) was used to calculate the copy numbers. Samples showing a locus-centromere ratio of 1.3 or higher were considered to carry a gain and with 0.75 or lower, a loss. The frequency of gains and losses at each locus was compared between the asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients' tumours. In addition, the prevalence of gains and losses was compared in the 2p21 and 2p16 regions separately. Differences within histological types were tested separately if the number of cases was sufficient to allow statistical testing.

The locus-specific copy numbers were calculated differently for 9q and 2p, because of the frequent trisomy of chromosome 2 detected with the centromere 2 probe. Chromosome 9 mostly showed disomy and occasionally monosomy or trisomy, detected with the centromere 9 probe. Therefore, we chose a more sensitive method for analysing locus-specific CNA at 2p than was used at 9q. The cutoff values were based on results from normal samples.

3.3.3 Centromere FISH

Centromere FISH probes for chromosomes 2 (SpectrumOrangeTM, Vysis Inc), 3 (biotinylated, Oncor, Gaithersburg, MD, USA), 9 (FISH*Bright*, Kreatech Diagnostics, Netherlands), 10 and 15 (Spectrum GreenTMand SpectrumAquaTM-labelled Vysis Inc) were used to estimate tumour ploidy in 100 tumour samples from both collections (45 fresh-frozen and 55 FFPE; 58 asbestos-exposed and 42 non-exposed). The probes were hybridized to TMA slides and slides with fresh-frozen samples and washed according to the manufacturer's instructions, respectively, at 65 °C or 73 °C.

Ploidy for each tumour was assessed by the average of the signal counts from three to five centromere probes. Average signal counts of above 2.5 were considered to represent polyploidy.

3.4 Gene expression microarrays (IV)

RNA from the cell line samples was extracted and purified using Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA, USA) and the RNA quality was measured using Agilent's BioAnalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA).

Each sample and one replicate from any time point for each cell line were hybridized to Affymetrix Human Genome U133 Plus 2.0 oligonucleotide microarrays (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA). Five µg of highquality total RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using a Superscript Double Stranded cDNA Synthesis kit (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK). The cDNA was linearly amplified and in vitro transcription reactions using the BioArray high-yield RNA transcript labelling kit (T7; Enzo Life Sciences, Farmingdale, NY) were carried out to produce biotinylated CTP and UTP-labelled cRNA. The labelled and fragmented cRNA was then hybridized to the Affymetrix microarrays for 16 h at 45°C in a rotating oven (60 rpm). The arrays were washed and stained with streptavidinphycoerythrin (SAPE) in a Fluidics station 450 (Affymetrix, 2004), and scanned with Affymetrix GeneChip Scanner 3000. The image was analyzed using the GeneChip operating software (GCOS; Affymetrix, Sacramento, CA) and Comparison Analysis was done according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer.

The arrays were scaled to the target value of 100 and absent and present calls were identified with Affymetrix Analysis Suite v. 5 (MAS 5.0). Arrays showing a background of 35-70 and housekeeping control genes signal ratios close to 1.0 were included in the data analysis.

Pre-processing of the hybridization data was performed using RMA (Robust Multi-array Average) (Irizarry *et al.*, 2003) with default settings (i.e., quantile normalization) in R. AFFX control sets and probe sets lacking GeneID information were excluded from the analyses. In addition, probe sets were exluded from the analyses when the "present / marginal / absent" expression rating system used in Affymetrix microarray analysis software (Affymetrix, 2004) (here, an open source implementation (Gautier *et al.*, 2004) of the Affymetrix algorithms was used) declared a probe set as absent in all microarrays relevant to the experiment. RMA pre-processing, designed to enhance the comparability of expression

values between separate arrays, produces a single logarithmic expression value for each probe set in the Affymetrix arrays. In the case of replicates, the mean RMA value was used in the analysis.

BioConductor package 'hgu133plus2', version 1.10.0 was used to obtain gene and chromosome band assignments (Bioconductor). Only unique assignments to properly named chromosome bands were used in the analysis.

In order to be able to interpret the large amount of gene expression data obtained from these array experiments and place it back into its biological sense, three different bioinformatics methods specifically modified to suit this experiment were performed.

3.4.1 GO analysis

A statistical analysis of Gene Ontology (GO) annotation terms was performed. A method, similar to that described by Breitling *et al.* (2004) was used to identify asbestos exposure-associated biological processes.

All cell lines were analyzed separately. Each time point was analyzed for both under- and overexpressed groups of genes. Genes were first rank-ordered according to their logarithmic fold-change values between exposed and corresponding non-exposed samples. In the case of multiple probe sets corresponding to a unique gene (GeneID), the ' at' set with the highest overall expression level in the three cell lines was chosen. If no '_at' sets were available, one of the sets was selected at random. The ' at' sets are designed to recognize one unique transcript only. Each gene was assigned to a biological process and a hypergeometric distribution was used for the statistical evaluation of enriched terms. Affected biological processes were determined by using the iGA (iterative Group Analysis) algorithm by Breitling et al. (2004). For a given gene class, iGA computes the minimal class-wise hypergeometric "p-value". The significance of this statistical indicator was here assessed by comparing its value against a distribution of 10 000 random permutations of the data. GO terms with a permuted p-value of less than 0.01 were considered significant.

In addition, the most detailed (with the least genes) biological processes were detected by ordering the GO terms in branches according to their parent-child relationships. It was assumed that truly significantly affected processes should be detected on several levels of this tree-like structure. Therefore, branches with at least three affected terms (p<0.01) were identified and the most detailed term containing less than 100 genes was listed.

Furthermore, in this thesis, the results from this analysis were also compared with results from patient samples obtained in a later study (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a). In that study, a similar GO analysis was performed on gene expression data from patient samples. Briefly, differentially regulated pathways (GO terms) were identified in normal and tumour tissue of asbestos-exposed as compared to non-exposed patients. To pinpoint the most relevant findings, branches containing at least three significant GO terms were identified and the most detailed terms (containing less than 100 genes) were listed. The significant biological process terms identified in the GO and cluster (see below) analyses on the cell line data were compared with the most relevant biological process terms in the patient data.

3.4.2 Clustering

A differential expression time series for each probe set was formed by subtracting the expression values measured in the non-exposed control from the values in the corresponding asbestos-exposed sample at each time point. Probe sets were excluded from the analysis when none of the time points showed an approximate >1.4-fold ($\sqrt{2}$) difference between the non-exposed and exposed cell samples. Subsequently, genes with similar time dependent expression profiles were clustered.

After the pruning procedures, 7 538 (MeT5A), 12 436 (A549), or 16 640 (BEAS-2B) probe sets remained. Each remaining probe set was treated as the sole representative of a gene. The cluster analysis included a total of 19 710 out of the 54 675 different probe sets on the Affymetrix array, in at least one cell line.

The remaining data sets from each cell line were clustered using an algorithm specifically designed for short time series expression data (Ernst *et al.*, 2005; Korpela *et al.*, 2006). However, significant clusters were not grouped as in the original paper. Each probe set was assigned to one of 50 model profiles during the clustering procedure. Using a permutation test, the algorithm labelled some clusters as being statisti-

cally significant (p<0.05, Bonferroni corrected), based on their expected and realized number of probe sets.

In addition, enriched biological processes (GO) as well as enriched chromosomal regions (both referred to as "terms" in the following section) for each cluster were listed. The probability of having at least the observed number of probe sets associated with a given term, assuming a random selection of probe sets, was calculated. All probe sets on the microarray (54 675) were used as a reference set. The enrichment of the terms in each gene cluster was evaluated by computing p-values from the hypergeometric distribution.

In this thesis, the enriched GO terms identified in the significant clusters of each cell line were also compared to the results from the GO analysis in patient samples (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a), as described above in Section 3.4.1.

3.4.3 Enriched chromosomal regions

A canonical correlation analysis (CCA)-based method (Hotelling, 1936) was performed on the A549 and BEAS-2B cell lines combined. CCA identifies correlations, i.e. shared variations between two data sets. The MeT5A cell line was excluded from the analysis due to the scarcity of time points in comparison to the other two cell lines. Multiple probe sets corresponding to the same gene were treated as in the GO analysis described above. Based on the results from CCA the genes were ordered according to their contribution to the dependencies of the two data sets, which was measured by the squared sum of CCA projection scores. Finally, enrichment in 307 chromosome bands (Bioconductor) was tested. The p-values were evaluated by permutation testing as in the GO analysis.

RESULTS

1. Asbestos-related genetic alterations in lung cancer

1.1 Genome-wide copy number alterations (I)

Typical patterns of alterations for different histological types of lung cancer were identified with cCGH. SCLC showed the highest number of alterations, irrespective of exposure. A higher number of CNA were detected in the exposed than in the non-exposed group in all histological types, except SCC (Table 4). The tumour stage-groups I to II and III to IV also showed more CNA in the tumours from exposed patients compared to those from non-exposed patients (Table 4). The sole specific alteration that seemed to differ significantly between the asbestos-exposed and the non-exposed groups was a gain at the minimal overlapping region 2p23. This gain was present in 57% (8/14 cases) of the exposed and in 14% (2/14 cases) of the non-exposed patients' tumours (p=0.025). In 7 out of these 8 exposed cases, the gain affected also 2p22 and in 4 cases 2p21.

All the large and most prominent alterations seen with cCGH were also detected by aCGH, which in addition detected some smaller alterations, such as a relatively frequent amplification at 12q13.3–14.1 (Wikman *et al.*, 2005). The aCGH results were, however, not analyzed on an individual level, since our goal was to identify differences between the asbestos-related and non-related lung tumours. An analysis at the group level does not require any *a priori* knowledge of the type of alteration in individual cases. Thus, no patient-specific alterations were listed. A combined statistical analysis on the data revealed 18 regions, in which the DNA copy number between the exposed and non-exposed groups differed significantly (Figure 9 and Table 3 in Study I). None of these regions seemed to harbour high-level DNA copy number changes, but instead low-level gains or losses. The median size of the asbestos-associated regions was 1.74 Mbp. The most significant differences were detected in the regions 2p21–p16.3, 5q35.3, 9q33.3–q34.11, 9q34.13–q34.3, 11p15.5, 14q11.2 and 19p13.1–p13.3 (p<0.005, Table 3 in Study I).

In addition, eleven fragile sites, two of which were situated at the 9q region, coincided with the 18 asbestos-associated regions (p=0.08).

	Number o	of samples	Median nun	nber of CNA	
	Exposed	Non-exposed	Exposed	Non-exposed	
Histology					
AC	5	6	6	1	
SCC	4	4	1,5	10	
AC/SCC	1	1	5	4	
LCLC	3 2		5	1	
SCLC	1	1	23	14	
Stage					
I–II	8	8	3,5	2	
III–IV	6	6	6	2,5	
All	14	14	5	2	

Table 4. Median number of CNAs detected in asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients tumours using cCGH.



61

1.2 Genetic alterations at 9q (II)

1.2.1 Allelic imbalance

Fifteen microsatellite markers were used to identify allelic imbalance (AI) at 9q31.3–34.3 in lung cancer samples from 29 non-exposed and 23 asbestos-exposed patients. The frequency of heterozygosity (i.e. informativity) for each marker correlated well with the reported degree of heterozygosity.

AI was detected in 27–74% of the samples, depending on the marker. All histological tumour types showed some degree of AI. Microsatellite instability (MSI) was detected in 47% (7/15) of the markers of one tumour with SCLC histology from a non-exposed patient. The same case had previously been identified to harbour MSI with the colon MSI marker BAT-26 and with microsatellite markers at 19p13 (Wikman *et al.*, 2007).

A higher frequency of AI was detected with all markers in the asbestos-exposed (42%–90%) than in the non-exposed (10%-65%) patients' samples. Considering the whole region, 9q31.3–34.3, AI (AI in >25%) of the markers) was detected in all (17/17) of the exposed cases and in 64% (14/22) of the non-exposed cases (p=0.005, Fisher's exact test). In addition, a small region at 9q33.1 (base pairs 121021696-121169435) was tested separately. This region included the marker showing the most significant asbestos-associated AI (TC-repeat, Table 5) compared to all the other markers, as well as two adjacent markers (AC-repeat and D9S195, Table 5). Significantly more AI (AI in >1 of at least 2 informative markers) at this locus was detected in the exposed patients' tumours (73%, 11/15) in comparison to the non-exposed patients' tumours (21%, 12%)4/19; p=0.002, X²-test, Figure 10). The different histological types could not be tested separately due to the small number of samples; however a similar trend could be seen among all types and especially in AC (AI in 0% [0/8] of the non-exposed and 50% [3/6] of the exposed).

Chromosomal	Microsatellite	A	lelic in	nbalance		FISH probe			Copy	numb	er alterat	tion		
region	marker	Asbe	stos-	Noi	-		Asbes	tos-	Nor	Ļ	Asbes	tos-	Non	
		expo	sed	expo	sed		expo	sed	expo	sed	expo	sed	expos	ed
		AIIA	nistolo	gical typ	es		AIIA	nistolo	gical type	es		NSC	LC ¹	
		Al/n	%	Al/n	%		CNA/n	%	CNA/n	%	CNA/n	%	CNA/n	%
9q31.3	D9S1675	6/11	55	4/12	33									
	D9S1683	4/6	67	4/9	44									
9q32	D95930	15/18	83	13/20	65									
	D95289	14/17	82	13/20	65	RP11-10i9	7/20	35	9/25	36	7/17	41	9/22	41
	D95302	13/19	68	16/25	64	RP11-357D21	5/23	22	7/25	28	4/20	20	6/21	29
9q33.1	D9S1776	5/12	42	1/10	10									
	D95170	5/9	56	4/9	44									
	D951872	6/11	55	7/13	54									
	TCrepeat	12/15	80	6/17	352	RP11-440N22	16/44	36	9/42	21	15/37	41	6/34	183
	ACrepeat	8/10	80	5/9	56									
	D9S195	12/19	63	9/22	41									
	D9S1116	12/18	67	11/22	50									
9q34	D951831	10/16	63	11/24	46	RP11-228B15	5/11	45	4/11	36	5/10	50	4/10	40
	D9S1793	9/10	90	11/18	61	RP11-816F8	1/7	14	2/13	15	1/6	17	2/10	20
	D951838	11/16	69	12/24	50	RP11-100C15	5/23	22	6/24	25	5/20	25	6/20	30
¹ Three major h ² $p = 0.01$ for the	istological type he frequency o	s of nor f Al betv	-small veen a	cell lun asbestos-	g cancieves	er (AC, SCC and ed and non-exp	l LCLC) osed.							

63

Table 5. Allelic imbalance (AI) and copy number alterations (CNA) at 9q.

³ p = 0.03 for the frequency of CNA in NSCLC between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed **bold text** - microsatellite markers used to compare the frequency of AI at 9q33.1 between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients samples (Figure 10).

RESULTS

RESULTS

Exposuro	Histology		9q33.1		Al/n	Al > 1
Lyposule	Thstology	TCrepeat	ACrepeat	D9S195	AI/11	marker
	AC				0/2	
					0/2	
					0/3	
					1/2	
					1/2	
					1/2	
q					1/2	
se					1/2	
8	SCC				0/2	
Xé					1/2	21%
÷					1/2	
Ī					1/2	
2					1/2	
					2/2	
					2/2	
					2/2	
					2/2	
	LCLC				0/2	
	SCLC				0/2	
	AC				0/2	
					1/2	
					1/2	
					2/3	
					3/3	
þ					3/3	
Se	SCC				2/2	
bo					2/2	73%
X					2/2	
					3/3	
	LULU				1/2	
					2/3	
	801.0				2/3	
	SULU				2/2	
	AC/SCC				2/3	

Figure 10. Allelic imbalance (AI) at 9q33.1 in the tumours of asbestosexposed and non-exposed patients. The column denoted Al/n shows the number of markers with Al/number of informative markers. Black, Al; white, no change; gray, non-informative/no result available; **bold**, Al in >1 marker.

1.2.2 Copy number alterations

Six BAC probes and a centromere 9 probe were used to analyze CNA at 9q32–34.3 with FISH. CNA at the locus were detected in 15-41% of the tumour samples, depending on the probe (losses in 5-27% and gains in 7-14%).

At 9q33.1, losses were more frequent than gains in the three major histological types of NSCLC, i.e. AC, SCC and LCLC. In the other rarer NSCLC types and in SCLC, losses and gains could be detected with equal frequencies. Thus, we decided to analyze the three major types of NSCLC as a group. SCLC and rare histological types were not tested separately due to the small number of samples.

Overall, depending on the probe, CNA at 9q were detected in 14–45% of the asbestos-exposed patients' tumours and in 15-36% of the nonexposed patients' tumours. Among the NSCLC tumours, significantly more frequent CNA at 9q33.1 (RP11-440N22) was detected in the tumours of asbestos-exposed (41%, 15/37) than in those of non-exposed patients (18%, 6/34; p=0.03, X²-test; Table 5). The same trend could be seen among all histological types with the difference being most significant among AC, 40% (6/15) in exposed and 6% (1/16) in non-exposed (p=0.04, Fisher's exact test). Similar results were obtained both with the fresh-frozen and the FFPE samples when analyzed separately (data not shown). A dose-dependent trend could be observed with increasing pulmonary fibre count of the patients and CNA at the locus was detected in 18% (6/34) of the tumours from non-exposed patients, in 35% (8/23) of the tumours from patients with between 1 and 9.9 million fibres/g and in 50% (7/14) of the tumours from patients with a pulmonary fibre count of 10 million fibres/g or more (p=0.03, exact Cochran-Armitage trend test, Figure 12a). The trend was also significant among the AC tumours: CNA in 6% (1/16) of the tumours from non-exposed patients, in 25% (2/8) of the tumours from patients with 1 to 9.9 million fibres/g and in 57% (4/7) of the tumours from patients with 10 million fibres/g or more (p=0.01, exact Cochran-Armitage trend test, Figure 12b). A similar, but non-significant trend (p=0.10) was seen when the SCLC and rare histological types were included in the analysis (data not shown).

1.3 Genetic alterations at 2p (III)

1.3.1 Allelic imbalance

Fourteen microsatellite markers were used to identify AI in 27 lung tumours from exposed and non-exposed patients. The heterozygosity rates of the markers correlated well with the reported frequencies.

AI was detected in 16-61% of the samples, depending on the marker. Microsatellite instability (MSI) at 2p was observed in two ACs (one asbestos-related and one non-related) and in one non-asbestos-related SCLC.

With the exception of one marker all of the other markers displayed an equal or higher frequency of AI in the asbestos-exposed patients' (18–88%) than in the non-exposed patients' (0–50%) tumours. At 2p16.3 (D2S123), AI occurred in 63% (5/8) of the asbestos-exposed and in 0% (0/5) of the non-exposed patients' tumours (p=0.08, Fisher's exact test). The markers D2S2739 and D2S2251 adjacent to D2S123 at 2p16 showed similar trends of asbestos association (Table 6).

Overall, AI was more frequent (AI in >25% of the markers) in the lung tumours of asbestos-exposed (11/13, 85%) than in those of non-exposed patients (4/12, 33%, p=0.02, Fisher's exact test). In the region 2p16, which included five markers, the difference was even more significant, 67% (8/12) of the exposed and 7% (1/14) of the non-exposed patients tumours showed AI (p=0.003, Fisher's exact test; Figure 11).

1.3.2 Copy number alterations

Five BAC probes and a centromere 2 FISH probe were used to obtain DNA copy numbers at 2p21–p16 in 151 lung tumours from exposed and non-exposed patients.

CNA were detected in 16-49% of the tumours, depending on the probe at the 2p region (losses in 1–15% and gains in 7–48%). The probes at 2p21 revealed mainly gains (33–48%, depending on the probe), while the probes at 2p16 showed losses and gains at an approximately equal frequency (losses in 7–15% and gains in 7–14%, depending on the probe). Therefore, 2p21 and 2p16 were analyzed separately.

		sed		%							0		0	03	7		0		
	Nor	expo	-AC	loss/n							0/23		0/24	0/42	2/29		0/14		
	tos-	sed	Non	%							4		0	14	11		25		
nber loss	Asbes	expo		loss/n							1/24		0/22	6/44	3/27		4/16		
py nur	Ŀ	sed	es	%							m		3	22	∞		11		
C	Nor	expo	gical type	loss/n							1/38		1/38	1/64	4/48		3/28		
	tos-	sed	histolog	%							ഹ		0	11	17		19		
	Asbes	expo	AIIF	loss/n							2/44		0/37	8/70	8/47		5/26		
FISH probe											RP11-183P21		RP11-963J22	RP11-703K23	RP11-347F1		RP11-1114A19		
e	Ļ	sed	sec	%	13	43	13	33	43	40	40	50	43	33	0	22	38	10	
Ibalanc	No	expo	gical tyl	Al/n	1/8	3/7	1/8	3/9	3/7	4/10	4/10	3/6	3/7	3/9	0/5	2/9	3/8	1/10	hortor.
ellic im	stos-	sed	histolog	%	18	56	50	40	60	50	88	33	57	73	63	57	38	44	
A	Asbe	expo	AIIA	Al/h	2/11	5/9	5/10	4/10	3/5	5/10	7/8	1/3	4/7	8/11	5/8	4/7	3/8	4/9	AI hota
Microsatellite	marker				D252328	D2S2259	D2S119	D2S2298	D2S2174	D2S2240	D2S2378	D2S2182	D2S391	D2S2739	D2S123	D2S2251	D2S2153	D2S378	frod long, of
Chromosomal	region				2p22.1	2p21		,						2p16.3	,	2p16.2		2p16.1	1 n=0 08 for tho

67

Table 6. Allelic imbalance (Al) and copy number alterations (CNA) at 2p

² p=0.09 for the frequency of loss between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed ³ p=0.03 for the frequency of loss between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed **bold text** - microsatellite markers and FISH probes used to compare the frequency of AI and loss, respectively, at 2p16 between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients samples (Figures 11 and 13)





At 2p16.3 (RP11-703K23) more frequent copy number losses were detected in the asbestos-exposed (8/70, 11%) patients' than in the nonexposed patients' (1/64, 2%) tumours (p=0.09, Fisher's exact test, Table 6). Furthermore, the prevalence of at least one copy number loss at 2p16, including the probes RP11-703K23, RP11-347F1, and RP11-1114A19 was significantly higher in asbestos-exposed (20%, 14/70 cases) than in non-exposed patients' tumours (8%, 6/71 cases; p=0.05, χ^2 test). A borderline significant dose-dependence was seen between the losses and the level of asbestos exposure: 8% (6/71) of the non-exposed patients' tumours, 19% (9/47) of the exposed with between 1 and 9.9 million fibres/g and 22% (5/23) of the exposed with 10 million fibres/g or more showed loss at 2p16 (p=0.07, Figure 13a). Although the groups were too small to be statistically evaluated, dose-dependent trends could be seen for all histological types separately, except for AC (data not shown). Thus, the dose-dependence was tested and found to be significant for all non-AC tumours together: 4% (2/50) of the non-exposed patients' tumours, 15% (5/33) of the exposed with between 1 and 9.9 million fibres/g and 23% (3/13) of the exposed with 10 million fibres/g or more showed loss at 2p16 (p=0.03, exact Cochran-Armitage trend test, Figure 13b). In addition, the probe at 2p16.2 (RP11-703K23) displayed a significant difference in frequency of loss between the exposed and non-exposed groups among non-AC tumours (p=0.03, Fisher's exact test, Table 6).

1.4 Polyploidy (II)

Three to five centromere probes for different chromosomes were used to estimate the ploidy level in each individual tumour. Average centromere signal counts indicating polyploidy (range 2.5 to 4.9) were detected in 40% (40/100) of all tumours. A significant difference in the frequency of polyploidy was detected between asbestos-exposed (48%, 28/58) and non-exposed patients' tumours (29%, 12/42; p<0.05, X²-test). The same trend could be seen among all histological types and especially among AC, 48% (11/23) in exposed and 20% (3/15) in non-exposed (p=0.08, X²-test). Similar results were obtained with both the fresh-frozen and the FFPE samples when analyzed separately (data not shown). No dosedependent trend could be observed.

2. Asbestos-related gene expression changes in cell lines (IV)

Three different cell lines were exposed to asbestos and the changes in gene expression compared to non-exposed controls during different time points were studied using microarrays. The large set of data obtained by this type of experiment was scrutinized in three different ways to profile the expression patterns induced in the cells by the exposure.

In the first analysis (GO analysis) it was possible to detect 351 detailed Gene Ontology (GO) terms describing biological processes enriched in at least one cell line at any one time point. Each term was associated with between one and 99 genes.

The second analysis clustered genes that showed a similar expression profile during the time series in the asbestos-exposed cells compared to the non-exposed cells. The clusters could be ordered according to their significance, based on the expected and realized number of genes assigned to each cluster. The analysis revealed 12 significant clusters in A549, 16 in BEAS-2B, and 3 in MeT5A. Further interpretation and elucidation of the results focused on the three most significant clusters in each cell line. Enrichment analyses for GO terms and chromosomal loci were performed for each cluster. The clusters contained between 1085 and 2403 genes, between 10 and 56 enriched biological processes and between 8 and 23 enriched chromosomal loci.

The third analysis (CCA) was designed to identify the dependencies between the A549 and the BEAS-2B cell lines. To achieve robust results, it was decided to focus on the interpretation of gene groups rather than on individual genes. It was hypothesized that the asbestos effects would be spatially localized in the chromosomes. Therefore, it was examined whether certain chromosomal regions were enriched in the gene list obtained by CCA. These regions could potentially be specifically affected by asbestos exposure (referred to as asbestos hotspots in the following), and be common to the cell lines. The analysis revealed 21 enriched chromosomal regions containing between 1 and 71 genes contributing to the significant dependencies between the cell lines (p-value<0.03; qvalue<0.38; Table 4 in Study IV). The GO terms associated with each gene were also listed in this analysis. Although the three analyses were not directly comparable, since they focused on different aspects of the data, it was possible to find some similarities that could be considered as being most relevant. Furthermore in this thesis, the enriched GO terms in the cluster analysis and the GO analysis were compared with the most relevant GO terms (biological processes) obtained in a similarly performed GO analysis on gene expression data from patient samples (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a). The most relevant results from the cell line study and the unpublished results correlated with patient data are summarized below and in Table 7. The original complete results can be viewed in more detail in the original publication (IV).

2.1 Genes

Two genes, *TXNDC (TMX1)* and *BNIP3L*, were identified as highly significant in all analysis methods. *TXNDC (TMX1)* is located at 14q22, identified in the CCA results and was represented in a highly significant gene cluster of all three cell lines. In addition, it is one of the genes contributing to the differential expression of the GO term "positive regulation of transcription, DNA-dependent", which was downregulated in all cell lines after 48h of asbestos exposure. *BNIP3L* is located at 8p21, which was represented in the CCA results. The gene contributed to the significant downregulation of the GO term "negative regulation of survival gene product activity" after 48h of asbestos exposure in all cell lines and was present in highly significant gene clusters of all three cell lines.

2.2 Biological processes

The GO terms at the 1h and 48h time points were compared between the cell lines to identify commonly enriched biological processes. As described in the Methods Section 3.4.1, the focus was resticted to those branches of the GO tree that contained at least three enriched GO terms and listed the most detailed term in the results. No common processes were observed after 1h of exposure, whereas 10 common GO terms were identified after 48h (Table 1 of Study IV). The number of genes belonging to the most detailed process of the branch ranged from 1 to 85.
		1				r	r				
Other related terms significant in any cell line3 OR patient sample OR both (cell line AND tumour OR normal sample of patients)			GO:0016567 protein ubiquitination GO:0006512 ubiquitin cycle	GO:000209 proteasonial upiquiun-uependent protein catabolic process GO:0000209 protein polyubiquitination GO:0031397 negative regulation of protein	ubiquitination GO:0030327 prenylated protein catabolic process		GO:0007187 G-protein signaling, coupled to	cyclic nucleotide second messenger GO:0007202 activation of phospholipase C	activity GO:0007189 activation of adenylate cyclase	activity by G-protein signaling pathway	
	patients ² (normal AND tumour samples)	•	Down				Up		Up	цр	цр
Regulation	cell lines ¹		represented in three gene	of BEAS-2B			represented in	one gene cluster (16) of BEAS-2B	up 6h BEAS-2B	down 1h Met5A	down 1h A549 up 1h BEAS-2B up 6h BEAS-2B
Biological process			ubiquitin-dependent protein catabolism			aling	gamma-aminobutyric acid signaling	pathway	G-protein signaling, coupled to cAMP nucleotide second messenger	G-protein signaling, coupled to IP3 second messenger (phospholipase C activating)	frizzled-2 signaling pathway
GO ID		Ubiquitination	GO:0006511			Gprotein sign	GO:0007214		GO:0007188	GO:0007200	GO:0007223

Table 7. Biological processes found to be dysregulated in both asbestos-exposed cell lines and patient samples.

RESULTS

tRNA metabo	lism			
GO:0006399	tRNA metabolism	up 1h A549	Down	GO:0006418 tRNA aminoacylation for protein translation GO:0006429 leucyl-tRNA aminoacylation GO:0006428 isoleucyl-tRNA aminoacylation GO:0006424 seryl-tRNA aminoacylation GO:0006436 tryptophanyl-tRNA aminoacylation GO:0006388 tRNA splicing GO:0006388 tRNA splicing GO:0042780 tRNA 3'-processing
Ion transport				
GO:0006814	sodium ion transport	up 1h BEAS-2B up 6h BEAS-2B down 1h Met5A	Up	GO:0006826 iron ion transport GO:0006825 copper ion transport GO:0006829 zinc ion transport
GO:0006816	calcium ion transport	up 1h BEAS-2B up 6h BEAS-2B down 1h Met5A	Up	GO:0006813 potassium ion transport GO:0006820 anion transport
Sensory perce	ption			
GO:0007608	sensory perception of smell	up 48h A549 up 1h BEAS-2B up 6 BEAS-2B up 48 BEAS-2B down 1h Met5A up 48h Met5A	Up	GO:0050909 sensory perception of taste GO:0007605 sensory perception of sound GO:0050953 sensory perception of light stimulus GO:0007601 visual perception GO:0050906 detection of stimulus involved in sensory perception GO:0050896 response to stimulus
Humoral imm	une response			
GO:0019735	antimicrobial humoral response (sensu Vertebrata)	up 6h BEAS-2B up 48h BEAS-2B	ЧD	GO:0016064 humoral defense mechanism (sensu Vertebrata) GO:0019731 antibacterial humoral response (sensu Vertebrata)
¹ Study IV	_			

Table 7. contd.

¹ Study IV ² Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a ³ Enriched in a gene cluster or significant in the GO analysis

Furthermore, common GO terms were examined in the gene cluster and the GO analyses. Nine biological processes were identified to be significantly enriched in significant gene clusters of at least two cell lines and in at least two time points of the GO analysis (Table 2 of Study IV). The biological processes "positive regulation of transcription, DNAdependent" and "negative regulation of survival gene product activity", observed in the cluster and GO analyses, were also associated with genes in the regions of the CCA.

In the study on patient samples, eighteen biological processes were found to be the most relevant, when searching for branches with at least three significant GO terms differing between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed patients' tumour and normal tissue (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a). Ten of the 18 terms were also significant in the GO or cluster analysis of at least one cell line (Table 7). One of the terms, "sensory perception of smell", was also found to be commonly up-regulated in all cell lines after 48h of exposure. The other terms belonged to branches describing ion transportation (2 terms), G-protein signalling (4 terms), ubiquitination (1 term), tRNA metabolism (1 term) and humoral immune response (1 term).

2.3 Enriched chromosomal regions

The representation of the previously identified chromosomal regions affected by asbestos-related CNA in lung tumours (I), were examined in the results of the cell line experiment. In the most significant gene cluster of A549 (cluster 5) nine of the 18 previously identified asbestos-associated chromosomal regions were enriched, i.e. 11q13, 19p13, 9q34, 16p13, 1p36, 17p13, 5q35, 3p21, and 22q13 (p<0.01). In addition, cluster 2 of A549 contained enrichment of genes in 5 regions corresponding to the asbestos-associated regions in lung cancer. The less significant gene clusters 3, 7, and 13 in BEAS-2B contained enrichment of genes in 3 to 5 regions and cluster 2 in MeT5A contained enrichment of genes in 5 regions. The most frequently enriched regions were 19p13, 3p21, 11q13 and 9q34 in all significant clusters of all three cell lines.

Furthermore, one of the most significant regions showing differential copy number changes between the lung tumours of exposed and non-exposed patients was 2p21-16.3. In the cluster analysis it was noted that probe sets located at 2p were substantially enriched in the highly significant gene clusters 9 of A549 (p=0.00032) and 5 of BEAS-2B (p=0.000114). Notably the specific region 2p21 was enriched in the second most significant cluster (1) of A549 (p=0.0039). In addition, the most significant region in the enrichment analysis of the CCA results was 2p22.

DISCUSSION

1. Genomic alterations in asbestos-related lung cancer

The biopersistant asbestos fibres can be present in the lungs for decades and may, during that time, cause several molecular changes in the surrounding cells. In vitro experiments have shown that the most typical asbestos-induced DNA alterations are losses and breaks (Huang et al., 1978; Valerio et al., 1980; Hei et al., 1992; Hei et al., 1995; Pelin et al., 1995; Lohani et al., 2002; Xu et al., 2007; Msiska et al., 2009). During the last decade, genome wide analysis methods have proven to be the most efficient in analyzing complex tumours such as lung cancer. Here, by using whole genome aCGH and matched groups of tumour material from asbestos-exposed and non-exposed lung cancer patients, it was possible to identify a set of chromosomal regions differing in copy number between these two groups. Eighteen regions were identified to be affected by differential CNA in tumours from asbestos-exposed patients as compared to tumours from non-exposed patients and 13 of the regions seemed to be affected by losses in the exposed group (I, Figure 9). The seven statistically most significant regions identified were 2p21-p16.3, 5q35.3, 9q33.3-34.11, 9q34.13-34.3, 11p15.5, 14q11.2 and 19p13.1-p13.3.

The aCGH study was performed using reference samples from only two healthy individuals, which may have caused biased results due to the recently discovered polymorphic CNVs. There is a possibility that a duplication/deletion in the reference DNA is interpreted as a loss/gain in the tumour DNA. This is, however, unlikely in this study considering the size of the identified asbestos-related CNAs. The average size of CNVs has been reported to be within the range of several kilobases (Redon et al., 2006), while the CNA identified here were all in the range of 1 megabase or more (Table 3 in Study I). In addition, the choice of using a combined statistical analysis, where the array results from the two tumour groups were compared to each other at the group level, should eliminate the risk of detecting false positive CNAs due to CNVs, since the same references were used in both groups. The group level analysis may not, however, fully compensate for the noise present in the arrays caused by for example normal cell contamination. Therefore, there is a slight possibility that, for instance a gain in one of the tumour groups could be interpreted as a loss in the other group. Nonetheless, one of the regions which seemed to be lost in the asbestos-related group, 3p21, has previously been reported to be significantly more frequently affected by LOH in the tumours from asbestos-exposed patients compared to those from non-exposed patients (Marsit et al., 2004). Furthermore, the CNAs at 19p13, which seemed to be both lost in the asbestos-related group and gained in the non-related group, were later verified with FISH in a larger study population. (Ruosaari et al., 2008b.) These results indicate that at least in these regions the original array results were correctly interpreted. Previous in vitro experiments have shown that asbestos fibres are mainly involved in causing breaks in chromosomes 1 and 9 (Dopp et al., 1998; Lohani et al., 2002) as well as loss of one or both copies of chromosome 5 and monosomy of chromosome 19 (Suzuki et al., 2001). Here, two asbestos-related CNAs were identified in chromosome 1, three in chromosome 9 and one each in chromosomes 5 and 19. Finally, a recent aCGH study on mesothelioma, which is tightly linked to asbestos exposure, identified frequent CNA in 17 chromosomal regions with five of them (1p36.22-36.23, 3p21.31, 9q34.11, 17p13.11 and 19p13.2) corresponding to those identified here in asbestos-related lung cancer (Ivanov *et al.*, 2009).

Another type of microarrays was used to study gene expression changes in asbestos-exposed cell lines and 21 chromosomal regions enriched with genes that contributed to the common asbestos-related responses in two exposed cell lines were identified (Table 4 in Study IV). It can be postulated that these regions may be especially prone to asbestos-induced DNA damage, i.e. asbestos hotspots, which consequently affects the expression of the genes in those regions. Interestingly, the most significant region was 2p22, which is close to the 2p region affected by differential CNA in asbestos-exposed compared to non-exposed patients' tumours.

Here, the asbestos-related regions at 2p and 9q were chosen for further analysis by other methods and in larger study populations (II and III).

1.1 Allelic imbalance and copy number alterations at 9q (II)

The long arm of chromosome 9 has been characterized with losses in around 15%, gains in about 7% and AI in 40-60% of lung cancers (Baudis et al., 2001; Beau-Faller et al., 2003; Girard et al., 2000; Merlo et al., 1994). These frequencies correspond well to our results. In addition, it was possible to correlate the results with the amount of asbestos exposure of the patients. The whole 9q31.3-34.3 region harboured >25% AI in all of the exposed and in 64% of the non-exposed patients' samples. In particular, 9q33.1 was significantly more frequently affected by AI in the exposed group (73% versus 21%; Table 5 and Figure 10). Although, it is important to notice that the percentage of non-informative results at 9q33.1 was higher in the non-exposed group than in the exposed group (Figure 10), which may affect the significance of the results. However, with FISH it was also possible to detect more frequent CNA at 9q33.1 in the asbestos-exposed and these alterations showed a dose-dependent association in NSCLC (Figure 12a). Additionally, it was noted that the correlation of CNA at 9q33.1 with asbestos exposure was particularly significant among tumours with AC histology compared to other histological types, although the number of samples was small (Figure 12b).

The region 9q33.1 harbours a tumour suppressor gene, deleted in bladder cancer 1 (*DBC1*), which has been found to be down regulated by several mechanisms in many types of cancer (Gao *et al.*, 2004; Beetz *et al.*, 2005; Gronbaek *et al.*, 2008). The gene has been shown to inhibit cell proliferation by negative regulation of the G_1/S transition of the cell cycle (Nishiyama *et al.*, 2001). In a previous gene expression study on the same patient samples as the ones used here in the aCGH study (I),

DISCUSSION



Figure 12. **Frequency of CNA at 9q33.1.** A) The major histologic tumour types of NSCLC (i.e. AC, SCC and LCLC, p=0.03) and B) AC tumours (B, p=0.01) from asbestos-exposed (>10 and 1–9.9 million fibres/g) and non-exposed (0–0.5 million fibres/g) patients. The number of samples with CNA/number of all samples is shown above each column.

low expression of DBC1 was detected in both normal lung and tumour samples and there was no significant difference between the exposed and non-exposed groups (Wikman et al., 2007). The gene has been found to be frequently methylated and down-regulated in NSCLC as well as in adjacent normal tissue of smokers (Izumi et al., 2005). Thus, it is possible that *DBC1* is central to the development or progress of both asbestos-related and non-related lung cancer, but that the mechanism of down-regulation may be different in the two groups. The combination of smoking and asbestos exposure may increase the probability of a cell acquiring CNA in one allele and methylation in the other, elevating the risk of cancer according to Knudson's two-hit hypothesis (Knudson, 1971). A similar difference between asbestos-related and non-related lung cancer was recently reported for the gene P16/CDKN2A. LOH and homozygous deletion of this gene were found to be associated with asbestos exposure, while promoter hypermethylation was correlated with heavy smoking in lung cancer. Consequently, the gene was downregulated in the tumours of both exposure groups (Andujar et al., 2010).

CNA at 9q has been reported in 10–15% of mesotheliomas (Björkqvist *et al.*, 1998b; Lindholm *et al.*, 2007; Taniguchi *et al.*, 2007). Interestingly, two aCGH studies on mesothelioma discovered 6 of 43 cases with CNA at 9q and 3 of those cases harboured losses initiating at 9q33.1, indicating a potential breakpoint hotspot for asbestos-induced DNA damage (Lindholm *et al.*, 2007; Taniguchi *et al.*, 2007). It is also worth mentioning that the gene *TNC* (*HXB*), which resides at 9q33.1 and is involved in wound healing has been found to be down-regulated in mesothelioma cell lines (Kettunen *et al.*, 2001).

1.2 Allelic imbalance and loss at 2p (III)

The short arm of chromosome 2 has been reported to be affected by gains in 16.5–50% depending on the study, by losses in approximately 5% (32% in SCLC) and by AI in 25–45% of lung tumours (Balsara *et al.*, 1997; Dehan *et al.*, 2007; Garnis *et al.*, 2006; Michelland *et al.*, 1999; Otsuka *et al.*, 1996; Petersen *et al.*, 1997; Shen *et al.*, 2009; Weir *et al.*, 2007; Wong *et al.*, 2002; Xinarianos *et al.*, 2000; Björkqvist *et al.*, 1998a). Similar frequencies were detected in our samples. Additionally, it was also possible to detect a significant

asbestos association with both copy number loss (20% vs 8% in exposed and non-exposed patients' tumours, respectively) and AI (67% vs 7%, Figure 11) at 2p16. In the AI analysis, the percentage of noninformative results at the 2p16 region was higher among the nonexposed cases (Figure 11), similarly as at the 9q33.1 region, which may affect the significance of the result. Nevertheless, a dose-dependent association was also observed between FISH-detected loss at 2p16 and asbestos exposure and the trend was especially significant among tumours with non-AC histological type (Figure 13). In the genome wide aCGH study (I) an association was detected between fragile sites and the asbestosassociated CNAs. The aphidicolin-sensitive fragile site, FRA2D is located at 2p16.2 adjacent to the microsatellite marker D2S123 (Schwartz et al., 2006), which in comparison with the other markers showed the most significant difference in AI between the exposed and non-exposed groups (63% and 0%, respectively, Table 6). Thus, the fragile site may be involed in the mechanism of asbestos-induced damage in this region. It is worth mentioning that the overall frequency of AI at D2S123 (38%) correlated well with a previously reported frequency in lung cancer (30%, Wong *et al.*, 2002).

Copy number loss as well as LOH and UPD at 2p16 has been detected in other types of cancer such as ovarian carcinoma, meningioma and hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer (Lucci-Cordisco *et al.*, 2005; Krupp *et al.*, 2008; Plisiecka-Halasa *et al.*, 2008). The cancer syndrome Carney complex (CNC), which is associated with multiple neoplasms, has also been characterized with gains and losses at 2p21-p16 (Matyakhina *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, the precursor of miR-216, located at 2p16.1, has been found to be down-regulated in lung cancer (Yanaihara *et al.*, 2006). It is intriguing to speculate that miR-216 is involved in the tumorigenesis of both asbestos-related and non-related lung cancer, but once again by separate mechanisms, similarly as the previously mentioned p16/CDKN2A gene.

In the cell line experiment (IV), significantly enriched chromosomal regions were also tested for in the most significant gene clusters, i.e. those clusters that contained more similarly expressed genes than expected. Consequently, in addition to identifying an asbestos hotspot at 2p22, genes located at 2p were found to be substantially enriched in highly significant gene clusters of the two epithelial cell lines, A549

DISCUSSION



Figure 13. **Frequency of loss at 2p16.** A) All histological tumour types (p=0.07) and B) non-AC tumours (p=0.03) from asbestos-exposed (>10 and 1–9.9 million fibres/g) and non-exposed (0-0.5 million fibres/g) patients. The number of samples with loss/ number of all samples is shown above each column.

and BEAS-2B. These results could indicate that either alterations at 2p and consequently changes in the expression of the genes in the region are specifically involved in the asbestos-related cellular responses or *vice versa*. I.e. asbestos-related gene expression changes in the region may sensitize it to genomic alterations, while it is in an open conformation, allowing transcription (Obe *et al.*, 2002).

1.3 Chromosomal regions enriched with asbestos exposure response genes (IV)

Many of the regions identified in the cell line experiment as potential asbestos hotspot regions correspond to regions frequently found to be affected by CNA in mesothelioma, i.e. 4q, 6q, 8p, 8q22-23, 9p13, 14q and 15q (Kivipensas *et al.*, 1996; Lindholm *et al.*, 2007; Baudis, 2009). In particular, two regions are worth mentioning, namely 8p21 and 14q22. Both regions contain one interesting gene each. Single genes are usually of less interest in a genome wide analysis such as this one, since significant differences in the expression of single genes are expected to arise at random, due to the large amount of data. Nevertheless, these two may be mentioned due to their high significance in all analyses on all cell lines and because of their asbestos-related functions and relationships with previously identified asbestos-associated genes.

The chromosomal region 8p21 harbours the gene encoding for a BCL2/adenovirus E1B 19kD-interacting protein (*BNIP3L*). *BNIP3L* is a potential tumour suppressor, associated with hypoxia-induced apoptosis of epithelial cells (Krick *et al.*, 2005). The gene was involved in the down-regulation of the biological process "negative regulation of survival gene product activity", i.e. a proapoptotic process, in all cell lines at 48h of exposure (Table 1 in Study IV). Thus, loss of the gene may result in apoptotic bypass.

Region 14q22 harbours the thioredoxin domain containing gene (*TXNDC* also known as *TMX1*). *TXNDC* was found to contribute to the down-regulation of the biological process "DNA-dependent positive regulation of transcription" in all cell lines at 48h exposure (Table 1 in Study IV). Thioredoxin (*TXN*) is involved in the DNA-binding activity of NF-KB, which has been shown to be up-regulated by asbestos exposure (Shukla *et al.*, 2003b). *TXNDC* has been found to have *TXN*-like

functions and may in addition be involved in relieving endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, such as that induced by asbestos exposure (Matsuo *et al.*, 2001; Nozaki *et al.*, 2001). Thus, loss of the gene may contribute to inability of the cell to protect itself against ER stress.

1.4 Polyploidy and aneuploidy

The ploidy level of the tumours was analyzed using five centromere FISH probes and significantly more frequent polyploid tumours were detected among the asbestos-exposed (48%) than the non-exposed (29%) patients. The difference was particularly significant among tumours with AC histology compared to other histological types (48% vs 20% in exposed and non-exposed, respectively). Asbestos is known to cause chromosome missegregation and the fibres have been shown to induce polyploidy by sterically blocking cytokinesis in vitro (Jensen et al., 1996; Jaurand, 1997). Polyploidy has been suggested to act as a catalyst to promote further CIN and aneuploidy (Holland et al., 2009), which may explain the finding that asbestos-exposed patients' tumours show a larger number of alterations as detected with cCGH (Table 4). However, it is not certain whether polyploidy leads to aneuploidy in cancers or vice versa. In vitro, asbestos seems to be able to cause both aneuploidy and polyploidy (Jensen et al., 1996; Suzuki et al., 2001). Thus, the chromosomal alterations detected in asbestos-related lung cancer need not only be nonspecific results of polyploidy-directed CIN, but may also be induced in specific regions by asbestos fibres before the development of polyploidy, which has been indicated by the findings at 2p and 9q in this thesis, and at 19p13 (Wikman et al., 2007; Ruosaari et al., 2008b).

Polyploidy may confound the analysis of CNA in specific chromosomal regions, since low level alterations may not be detected as easily by CGH as in diploid genomes. This may explain the difficulty over the years in identifying specific asbestos-associated CNA. Increased ploidy levels and thus increased overall gene copy numbers could contribute to the over-expression of many genes (reviewed in Petersen *et al.*, 2009). However, losses may not affect the expression of genes if the genome is polyploid and an extra copy compensates for the expression of genes in a region showing a one-copy loss. This may explain why asbestos-associated increased expression of the genes in the 2p region was detected in a study examining the gene expression in the same patients as in the aCGH study (I; Wikman *et al.*, 2007) and at the same time asbestos-associated copy number losses were detected here (III). The losses were defined by calculating a ratio between the locus specific probe and the centromere of chromosome 2, which often implied trisomy or tetrasomy of the chromosome. Thus, one-copy losses would not affect the possible up-regulation of the genes in that region, caused by the polyploidy or aneuploidy.

Due to these complex alteration patterns, asbestos-related CNA may not always cause a differential expression profile compared to non-asbestos-related lung cancer, which is also demonstrated by the previously mentioned findings on the *P16/CDKN2A* and *FHIT* genes. These genes are frequently down-regulated in lung cancer, but by different mechanisms in those that are asbestos-related, than in those that are not (Pylkkänen *et al.*, 2002a; Andujar *et al.*, 2010; Nelson *et al.*, 1998). Instead the correlations are simply biomarkers of the exposure and could, regardless of their biological effects, be useful in identifying these tumours among lung cancers without asbestos association.

2. Dysregulated biological processes in asbestos-related lung cancer

Several biological processes (GO terms) that were differentially regulated in asbestos-exposed cell lines compared to non-treated cells were identified. Many of those processes are probably due to the triggering of various universal cellular responses to a toxic substance. However, by using three different cell lines it was anticipated that it would be possible to pinpoint the specific asbestos-related changes and to be able to overlook the cell-type or malignancy-associated changes. Indeed, the number of shared differentially expressed processes increased with exposure time, indicating that the response to asbestos exposure occurs through the same pathways in all three cell lines. However, with *in vitro* experiments, one can naturally never precisely reflect the actual conditions and mechanims *in vivo*. Therefore, in this thesis, the complete results from the cell line experiment were correlated with those of a similar study performed later on normal and tumour samples from lung cancer patients with and without past asbestos exposure (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a). The main aim of this thesis has been to identify asbestos-related alterations in lung cancer and therefore the discussion here will focus on the processes found to correlate between the cell lines and the patient samples.

Ten biological processes were found to correlate between at least one of the cell lines and the patient samples (Table 7). Most of them were different from those found in common between the three cell lines themselves. This was to be expected since the differentially regulated processes found in the tumours of asbestos-exposed patients are anticipated to be associated with cancer, while those discovered in the cell lines are more likely to be early asbestos-related changes not yet involved in the carcinogenic processes. One should keep in mind that the development of clinical cancer associated with asbestos exposure appears decades after the initial exposure. The processes found in common between the two studies could be hypothesized to be related to the very early carcinogenic effects induced by asbestos exposure.

Many of the processes that correlated between the three cell lines at 48h have previously been reported to be asbestos-related, based on other types of in vitro experiments, i.e. NF-KB, MAPK and mitochondrial pathways (reviewed in Shukla et al., 2003b; Kamp, 2009). These pathways were not found to be significantly dysregulated in the patient samples. However, another of the processes shared by the three cell lines at 48h, "sensory perception of smell" (Table 1 in Study IV), was also found to be highly significant in the asbestos-exposed patients' samples. It was the only up-regulated pathway detected in all three cell lines at 48h as well as at other time-points of all cell lines and it was also up-regulated in both the tumour and normal samples of the asbestos-exposed patients. This finding was slightly surprising, but the significance of its discovery was strengthened by the dysregulation of related processes in either the cell lines or the patient samples, namely "sensory perception of sound", "-taste" and "-light" (Table 7, Figure 14). Interestingly, the majority of the genes involved in the perception of smell and taste are those encoding for G-protein coupled olfactory and taste receptors. This could mean that the dysregulation of G-protein signalling, which was also highly represented in the list of processes found in both cell lines and patient samples (Table 7), may affect the regulation of these

receptors. G-proteins have been proposed to be involved in the respiratory burst (release of ROS) caused by asbestos (Elferink *et al.*, 1988). Furthermore, the genes implicated in the sensory perception of smell could be involved in other yet unidentified processes. In fact, prostate cancer has been characterized with the over-expression of an olfactory receptor, *PSGR* (Xu et al., 2000). It is also worth mentioning that three of the asbestos-related CNA regions identified in the aCGH study (I; 16p13.3, 17p13.3 and 19p13.3) contain clusters of olfactory receptors contributing to the up-regulation of the "sensory perception of smell" in the asbestos-exposed cell lines.

Another process dysregulated in all three cell lines at 48h, i.e. "prenylated protein catabolic process" (Table 1 in Study IV), was closely related to a process found in the patient samples. It belongs to the same parent process ("modification-dependent protein catabolism") as "ubiquitin-dependent protein catabolic process", which was downregulated in the asbestos-exposed patients' samples (Table 7). Protein ubiquitination regulates various key cellular events, such as DNA repair, cell cycle and apoptosis and the dysregulation of this process has been linked to mesothelioma (Borczuk et al., 2007). Interestingly, ubiquitination is also involved in DNA damage-activated NF-KB, which as previously mentioned is known to be up-regulated by asbestos exposure (Shukla et al., 2003b; Skaug et al., 2009). In addition to the process found in common between the cell lines and the patient data, six other processes related to ubiquitination were also detected in at least one of the cell lines or patient samples (Table 7). The processes were all down-regulated in both patient samples and cell lines, except for "negative regulation of protein ubiquitination", which concordantly showed up-regulation. The expression and protein levels of the ubiquitin-activating enzymes, UBA1 and UBA7, involved in the early stages of protein ubiquitination, were further investigated in the study on patient samples, but neither showed any differences between asbestos-exposed and non-exposed (Ruosaari et al., 2008a). However, several hundreds of enzymes are involved in the process and the role of protein ubiquitination in asbestos-related carcinogenesis cannot be ruled out, based on these results. Indeed, the region 2p16, which was found to harbour asbestos-associated AI and copy number losses (III) contains two genes (ASB3 and RPS27A) involved in protein ubiquitination as well as the previously mentioned miR-216,

which has been predicted to target the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UBE2V2 (Kirschner et al., 2000; Chung et al., 2005; Lewis et al., 2005).

Finally, the biological process of ion transport was also highly represented in both the cell lines and the patient samples (Table 7). Asbestos could be linked to the up-regulation of ion channels through ROS, which has been shown to trigger the opening of mitochondrial channels and mitochondrial depolarization. Indeed, asbestos has been reported to cause a slow and sustained increase in intracellular Ca²⁺ levels and there is some evidence to suggest that the disruption of intracellular Ca²⁺ levels could, together with ROS, be involved in the asbestos-induced DNA strand breaks (reviewed in Shukla *et al.*, 2003b). Dysregulation of ion channels has been proposed to have a role in tumourigenesis and tumour progression (reviewed in Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008a).

Other common processes between the GO analyses in the cell lines and the patient samples were involved in tRNA metabolism and humoral immune response. Both have been implicated in cancer (Tan *et al.*, 2007; Park *et al.*, 2008).

Figure 14. **Gene Ontology network.** The network illustrates the branch leading to the biological process "sensory perception of smell" (red box) found to be commonly up-regulated in asbestos-exposed cell lines and samples from asbestos-exposed lung cancer patients. Terms represented either in the cell lines, patient samples or both are marked as described in the figure. The figure has been generated using the AmiGO visualization tool (Carbon *et al.*, 2009).



CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Many studies have attempted to explain the extremely high risk of lung cancer among smoking asbestos workers. Nevertheless, none of them have led to truly efficient screening methods that could reduce mortality even though the risk groups are very well known, in contrast to many other types of cancer risk groups. Furthermore, there are no molecular markers clinically available for identifying asbestos-related lung cancer even though asbestos is well known to be able to evoke alterations in the DNA, one of the hallmarks of cancer initiation and progression (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Around ten years ago, it was estimated that past asbestos exposures in Western Europe alone will be responsible for at least a quarter of a million deaths from lung cancer and an equal amount of deaths from mesothelioma over the next 35 years (reviewed in LaDou, 2004). Currently, clinical identification of asbestos-related lung cancer relies on occupational history and pulmonary asbestos fibre counts and thus, diagnosis would greatly benefit from the identification of a specific molecular marker (Kamp, 2009).

In this thesis, asbestos-related lung cancer was characterized at a molecular level in an attempt to pinpoint specific asbestos-related alterations that differ from lung cancer in patients without this type of exposure. Specific chromosomal alterations were identified in 18 regions (I) and the alterations in two of the regions, 2p16 and 9q33.1, were validated and characterized in detail (II and III). It is believed that a combination of several asbestos-associated molecular changes, such as CNA, could represent a feasible method for differentiating asbestos-related lung cancers from those that are not related to asbestos exposure. Here, significant differences in the frequency of AI and CNA at 2p16 and 9q33.1 were found between the tumours of exposed and non-exposed patients. In addition, the frequency of polyploidy was significantly higher among the tumours of asbestos-exposed patients. At 9q33.1 the differences were especially noteworthy among tumours with AC histology (Figure 12), while 2p16 exhibited the most considerable differences among the tumours with non-AC histology (Figure 13). Thus, in combination the alterations at these two regions and previously identified alterations at 19p13 (Ruosaari *et al.*, 2008b), as well as polyploidy may be useful in a test identifying asbestos-related lung cancer irrespective of histological type. Finally, we were also able to experimentally identify changes in the expression of genes in specific pathways and chromsomal regions that correlated with findings in patient samples, thus validating them for further studies (IV).

Some future prospects include (i) validating the asbestos-related chromosomal alterations in combination and in a large study population, (ii) performing transcription factor binding site analyses on the gene expression alterations in patient samples and asbestos-exposed cell lines, (iii) profiling the miRNAome in asbestos-related lung cancer, (iv) genome wide association studies of CNVs associated with asbestos-related lung cancer and (v) functional studies based on the most relevant findings.

Transcription factor binding site analyses on gene expression data can be used to identify dysregulated transcription factors that consequently cause the dysregulation of their target genes (Yap *et al.*, 2005). This kind of analysis could be performed on a group of genes showing similar expression e.g. during a time series experiment, such as the gene clusters generated here in the experiment on asbestos-exposed cell lines (IV).

MiRNAs are rapidly becoming an attractive method for profiling cancers. The miRNAome has proved to be more efficient in distinguishing between tumour histology, classifying undifferentiated tumours and predicting patient outcome, than traditional gene expression profiling of mRNAs. The majority of, if not all, cellular processes are likely to be regulated by miRNAs and changes in the expression of these genes are a hallmark of several diseases, including cancer. During the past few years several tumour suppressive and oncogenic miRNAs have been identified (reviewed in Croce, 2009). Profiling of the miRNAome in asbestos-related lung cancer would greatly add to the understanding of the molecular alterations in this type of cancer. CNVs represent a recently discovered type of human genetic variation, i.e. the occurrence of missing or additional segments of DNA which have been found in two or more genomes of healthy individuals. CNVs are likely to play an important role in the susceptibility of cancers and may interfere with the analysis of tumour specific somatic CNAs. During the past few years much attention has been paid to human genetic variation, especially CNVs and there are several large ongoing projects to map these variations (reviewed in Dear, 2009). It would be tempting to perform genome wide association studies of CNVs associated with asbestos-related lung cancer.

Finally, the identified putative biomarkers of asbestos-related lung cancer need to be verified in larger sets of samples and their biological roles in asbestos-related lung carcinogenesis should be clarified using functional experiments. Novel high-throughput methods, such as the next-generation sequencing (NGS) techniques (reviewed in Metzker, 2010) could also be a next step in gathering a better understanding of the chromosomal alterations and their effects involved in asbestos-related lung cancer.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out in the Health and Work Ability Centre of Expertise of the Finnish Institute of Occupational Health (FIOH) and in the Department of Pathology of the Haartman Institute and HUSLAB, University of Helsinki and Helsinki University Central Hospital. I want to thank the Heads and staff of these institutes for providing excellent research facilities. Especially, team leader **Kirsti Husgafvel-Pursiainen** is thanked for her positive attitude towards my studies and for making this work possible. I am grateful for the financial support provided by TEKES, the Finnish Work Environment Fund, Maud Kuistila Memorial Foundation, the Ida Montin Foundation, the Swedish Cultural Foundation in Finland and Nylands Nation. I wish to express my most sincere gratitude to all the people who have contributed to the completion of this thesis and I especially acknowledge:

My supervisors, **Sisko Anttila** and **Sakari Knuutila**, for support and encouragement during the past years. Sisko is thanked for believing in my ideas and for giving me great freedom and independence in my work. I would like to thank Sakari for his never-ending enthusiasm for genetic research on cancer. He has inspired me in my work, time after time.

Harriet Wikman for all her incredible support for so many years. Haiju functioned as the supervisor of my master's thesis and since then has given me invaluable guidance during my development as a researcher. She is deeply thanked for "hiring" me to the asbestos-related lung cancer-project and for being an unofficial reviewer of this thesis.

The official reviewers, Janna Saarela and Veli-Matti Kosma for their critical review of this thesis and for their valuable comments that truly helped me improve my thesis.

All the co-authors of the original publications of this thesis, for interesting and enjoyable collaboration. Without them this thesis would not have been possible. Especially Eeva Kettunen, Salla Ruosaari and **Pamela Lindholm** are sincerely thanked for their major contributions to studies III, I and IV. I am also grateful to Eeva for all her excellent advice in both scientific and non-scientific topics over the years. Salla is thanked for sharing her extraordinary skills in bioinformatics. Mervi Aavikko is thanked for amusing discussions over the microscope and for her contribution to study III. Leo Lahti and Mikko Korpela are thanked for their invaluable roles and patience during the bioinformatic analyses and interpretation of the results in study IV. Eeva Kuosma is thanked for the statistical analyses in studies II and III. Jaakko Hollmén and Samuel Kaski are acknowledged for providing excellent bioinformatic expertise. I would also like to acknowledge Antti Karjalainen, Kaisa Salmenkivi, and Risto Pirinen for their contributions in the gathering of the patient samples utilized in studies I-III, Esa Vanhala for the asbestos fibre count analyses of the samples and Vuokko Kinnula for providing the cell line samples examined in study IV.

Ewen MacDonald, for critical linguistic revision of this thesis and for being so quick at it.

Former and present staff in the pathology lab; Virinder Sarhadi, Päivi Tuominen, Helinä Hämäläinen, Jaana Kierikki, Sauli Savukoski, Tuula Stjernvall, Tuija Hienonen-Kempas, Henrik Wolff and Laura Teirilä for creating a friendly and comfortable atmosphere at FIOH. Päivi is especially thanked for excellent technical assistance and for being a great roommate. I am also grateful to Virinder for all the interesting discussions and advice on scientific matters and for her friendship. Tuija is thanked for her contribution to the review article in which a version of Figure 7 in this thesis was originally published.

My fellow researchers and friends on the 2nd and 5th floors at FIOH; Reetta Holmila, Miia Antikainen, Kati Hannukainen, Hanna Lindberg, Ghita Falck, Mari Kukkonen, Anne Puustinen, Satu Hämäläinen, Jaana Palomäki and Elina Rossi for all the stimulating activities at work and after work. Tuula Suomäki is also thanked for all her help with the bureaucratical stuff at FIOH.

My colleagues and friends, former and present members of the CMGgroup; Kowan Jee, Linda Siggberg, Tarja Niini, Tarja Nieminen, Ioana Borze, Mohamed Guled, Neda Mosakhani, Ilari Scheinin, Minna Koivumaa, Fabricio Passador, Anne Tyybäkinoja, Samuel Myllykangas, Suvi Savola, Sippy Kaur, Hanna Vauhkonen, Shinsuke Ninomiya, Anu Usvasalo, Jassu Atiye and Tuija Lundán for all the help, exciting discussions and recreational activities. Special thanks go to **Pirjo Pennanen** for excellent linguistic review of the original manuscripts included in this thesis. I would also like to thank all the people who worked in the former diagnostics lab of cytomolecular genetics at HUSLAB for teaching me about the cytomolecular genetic methods and for making my first years in the lab so much fun. **Kirsi Autio** is especially acknowledged for proposing my recruitment as a summer trainee a long time ago, despite my extremely poor Finnish language skills.

All my great friends, especially the "biolla"-gang; **Sandra Nyholm**, **Tomas Häggvik**, **Maria Lindell**, **Mia Lindfors** and **Anna Enzerink** for the good times during our university studies. All my other magnificent friends outside the lab are thanked for creating an ideal balance in my life between work and pleasure. Especially **Nina Gestrin** and **Louise Forsman** are thanked for their life-long and unconditional friendship.

My parents **Monica Tollet-Nymark** and **Anders Nymark** for believing in everything I do. They both played a major part in my decision to become a geneticist and a researcher. Also my sister **Wilhelmina** and the rest of my fantastic family are thanked for all their endless love and support.

Above all, I thank **Mikko Kjellberg** for being so great at making me believe that I am good at what I do, even in my darkest moments of doubt, for being the best home-dad ever and for reminding me that life doesn't have to be so serious. Finally, **Alva**, my fabulous daughter, is thanked for her ability to instantly make me forget all the stress and difficulties at work, with just one tiny little hug.

Helsinki, May 2010

Yem Mpl

Penny Nymark

REFERENCES

- Affymetrix, I., Santa Clara, CA, USA. Genechip Expression Analysis: Data Analysis Fundamentals. 2004.
- Andujar P, Wang J, Descatha A, Galateau-Sallé F, Abd-Alsamad I, Billon-Galland M-A, Blons H, Clin B, Danel C, Housset B, et al. (2010) P16ink4a Inactivation Mechanisms in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients Occupationally Exposed to Asbestos. Lung Cancer, 67(1),23–30.
- Anttila S, Karjalainen A, Taikina-aho O, Kyyrönen P e Vainio H. (1993) Lung Cancer in the Lower Lobe Is Associated with Pulmonary Asbestos Fiber Count and Fiber Size. *Environ Health Perspect*, 101(2), 166–170.
- Bakke PS, Hanoa R e Gulsvik A. (2001) Relation of Occupational Exposure to Respiratory Symptoms and Asthma in a General Population Sample: Self-Reported Versus Interview-Based Exposure Data. Am J Epidemiol, 154(5), 477–483
- Balsara B, Sonoda G, du Manoir S, Siegfried J, Gabrielson E e Testa J. (1997) Comparative Genomic Hybridization Analysis Detects Frequent, Often High-Level, Overrepresentation of DNA Sequences at 3q, 5p, 7p, and 8q in Human Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinomas. *Cancer Res*, 57(11), 2116–20.
- Balsara BR e Testa J. (2002) Chromosomal Imbalances in Human Lung Cancer. Oncogene, 21(45), 6877–83.
- Barrett J, Lamb P e Wiseman R. (1989) Multiple Mechanisms for the Carcinogenic Effects of Asbestos and Other Mineral Fibers. *Environ Health Perspect*, 81, 81–9.
- Baudis M. (2009) Progenetix Oncogenomic Online Resource: http://www.progenetix.net.
- Baudis M e Cleary ML. (2001) Progenetix.Net: An Online Repository for Molecular Cytogenetic Aberration Data. *Bioinformatics*, 17(12), 1228–1229.
- Beau-Faller M, Gaub M, Schneider A, Ducrocq X, Massard G, Gasser B, Chenard M, Kessler R, Anker P, Stroun M, et al. (2003) Plasma DNA Microsatellite Panel as Sensitive and Tumor-Specific Marker in Lung Cancer Patients. Int J Cancer, 105(3), 361–370.
- Beetz C, Brodoehl S, Patt S, Kalff R e Deufel T. (2005) Low Expression but Infrequent Genomic Loss of the Putative Tumour Suppressor Dbccr1 in Astrocytoma. Oncol Rep, 13(2), 335–40.
- Bernstein DM e Hoskins JA. (2006) The Health Effects of Chrysotile: Current Perspective Based Upon Recent Data. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol*, 45(3), 252–264.

Bhattacharya K, Dopp E, Kakkar P, Jaffery FN, Schiffmann D, Jaurand MC, Rahman I e Rahman Q. (2005) Biomarkers in Risk Assessment of Asbestos Exposure. *Mutat Res*, 579(1–2), 6–21.

Bioconductor: http://www.bioconductor.org.

- Bissell MJ e LaBarge MA. (2005) Context, Tissue Plasticity, and Cancer: Are Tumor Stem Cells Also Regulated by the Microenvironment? *Cancer Cell*, 7(1), 17–23.
- Björkqvist AM, Husgafvel-Pursiainen K, Anttila S, Karjalainen A, Tammilehto L, Mattson K, Vainio H e Knuutila S. (1998a) DNA Gains in 3q Occur Frequently in Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Lung, but Not in Adenocarcinoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 22(1), 79–82.
- Björkqvist AM, Tammilehto L, Nordling S, Nurminen M, Anttila S, Mattson K e Knuutila S. (1998b) Comparison of DNA Copy Number Changes in Malignant Mesothelioma, Adenocarcinoma and Large-Cell Anaplastic Carcinoma of the Lung. Br J Cancer, 77(2), 260–9.
- Boffetta P. (2006) Human Cancer from Environmental Pollutants: The Epidemiological Evidence. *Mutat Res*, 608(2), 157–162.
- Borczuk AC, Cappellini GC, Kim HK, Hesdorffer M, Taub RN, Powell CA. Molecular profiling of malignant peritoneal mesothelioma identifies the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway as a therapeutic target in poor prognosis tumors. *Oncogene*, 26(4), 610–7.
- Bowman R, Yang I, Semmler A e Fong K. (2006) Epigenetics of Lung Cancer. Respirology, 11(4), 355–365.
- Brambilla E e Gazdar A. (2009) Pathogenesis of Lung Cancer Signalling Pathways: Roadmap for Therapies. *Eur Respir J*, 33(6), 1485–1497.
- Breitling R, Amtmann A e Herzyk P. (2004) Iterative Group Analysis (Iga): A Simple Tool to Enhance Sensitivity and Facilitate Interpretation of Microarray Experiments. BMC Bioinformatics, 5(1), 34.
- Brennan P e Bray I. (2000) Recent Trends and Future Directions for Lung Cancer Mortality in Europe. *Br J Cancer*, 87(1), 43–48.
- Carbon S, Ireland A, Mungall CJ, Shu S, Marshall B, Lewis S, the AmiGO Hub e the Web Presence Working Group. (2009) Amigo: Online Access to Ontology and Annotation Data. *Bioinformatics*, 25(2), 288–289.
- Chang M, Yu Y, Tsai J, Sheu C, Chong I e Lin S. (2007) Combined Oligonucleotide Microarray-Bioinformatics and Constructed Membrane Arrays to Analyze the Biological Pathways in the Carcinogenesis of Human Lung Adenocarcinoma. Oncol Rep, 18(3), 569–579.
- Cheng N, Shi X, Ye J, Castranova V, Chen F, Leonard SS, Vallyathan V, Rojanasakul Y. (1999) Role of transcription factor NF-[kappa]B in asbestos-induced TNF[alpha] response from macrophages. *Exp Mol Pathol*, 66, 201–210.
- Chung AS, Guan Y-J, Yuan Z-L, Albina JE e Chin YE. (2005) Ankyrin Repeat and Socs Box 3 (Asb3) Mediates Ubiquitination and Degradation of Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor Ii. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25(11), 4716–4726.
- Churg A, Hobson J, Berean K e Wright J. (1989) Scavengers of Active Oxygen Species Prevent Cigarette Smoke-Induced Asbestos Fiber Penetration in Rat Tracheal Explants. Am J Pathol, 135(4), 599–603.

- Churg A.(1997) Mineral Analysis of the Lung Parenchyma. In: CRYSTAL R, & WEST J (eds), The Lung: Scientific Foundations, Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, (2nd edition), pp. 2325–2338.
- Consensus Report. (1997) Asbestos, Asbestosis, and Cancer: The Helsinki Criteria for Diagnosis and Attribution. Scand J Work Environ Health, 23(4), 311–6.
- Croce CM. (2009) Causes and Consequences of Microrna Dysregulation in Cancer. Nat Rev Genet, 10(10), 704–714.
- Currie GP, Watt SJ e Maskell NA. (2009) An Overview of How Asbestos Exposure Affects the Lung. *Br Med J*, 339:b3209.
- D'Urso V, Collodoro A, Mattioli E, Giordano A e Bagella L. (2010) Cytometry and DNA Ploidy: Clinical Uses and Molecular Perspective in Gastric and Lung Cancer. J Cell Physiol, 222(3), 532–539.
- Daniel F. (1983) In Vitro Assessment of Asbestos Genotoxicity. Environ Health Perspect., 53, 163-167.
- Dear PH. (2009) Copy number variation: the end of the human genome? *Trends Biotechnol*, 27(8), 448–454.
- Dehan E, Ben-Dor A, Liao W, Lipson D, Frimer H, Rienstein S, Simansky D, Krupsky M, Yaron P, Friedman E, et al. (2007) Chromosomal Aberrations and Gene Expression Profiles in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Lung Cancer, 56(2), 175–184.
- Desinan L, Scott C, Pizzolitto S, Avellini C, Rimondi G, Bardus P, Rizzi V, Talmassons G, Puricelli C e Beltrami C. (1996) Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Morphology and DNA Flow Cytometry. *Anal Quant Cytol Histol*, 18(6), 438–452.
- Dodson RF, Atkinson MAL e Levin JL. (2003) Asbestos Fiber Length as Related to Potential Pathogenicity: A Critical Review. Am J Ind Med, 44(3), 291–297.
- Donaldson K, Brown G, Brown D, Bolton R e Davis J. (1989) Inflammation Generating Potential of Long and Short Fibre Amosite Asbestos Samples. Br J Ind Med, 46(4), 271–276.
- Dopp E, Schuler M, Schiffmann D e Eastmond DA. (1997) Induction of Micronuclei, Hyperdiploidy and Chromosomal Breakage Affecting the Centric/Pericentric Regions of Chromosomes 1 and 9 in Human Amniotic Fluid Cells after Treatment with Asbestos and Ceramic Fibers. *Mutat Res*, 377(1), 77–87.
- Dopp E. e Schiffmann D. (1998) Analysis of Chromosomal Alterations Induced by Asbestos and Ceramic Fibers. *Toxicol Lett*, 96–97, 155–162.
- Dopp E, Yadav S, Ansari F, Bhattacharya K, von Recklinghausen U, Rauen U, Rodelsperger K, Shokouhi B, Geh S e Rahman Q. (2005) Ros-Mediated Genotoxicity of Asbestos-Cement in Mammalian Lung Cells in Vitro. *Part Fibre Toxicol*, 2(9).
- Elferink J e Ebbenhout J. (1988) Asbestos-Induced Activation of the Respiratory Burst in Rabbit Neutrophils. Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol, 61(2), 201–11.
- Ernst J, Nau GJ e Bar-Joseph Z. (2005) Clustering Short Time Series Gene Expression Data. Bioinformatics, 21(suppl 1), i159–168.
- Fatma N, Jain A e Rahman Q. (1991) Frequency of Sister Chromatid Exchange and Chromosomal Aberrations in Asbestos Cement Workers. Br J Ind Med, 48(2), 103–5.

- Fatma N, Khan S, Aslam M e Rahman Q. (1992) Induction of Chromosomal Aberrations in Bone Marrow Cells of Asbestotic Rats. *Environ Res*, 57(2), 175–80.
- Fattman CL, Tan RJ, Tobolewski JM e Oury TD. (2006) Increased Sensitivity to Asbestos-Induced Lung Injury in Mice Lacking Extracellular Superoxide Dismutase. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 40(4), 601–607.
- Ferlay J, Bray E, Pisani P e Parkin D. (2004) Globocan 2002: Cancer Incidence, Mortality and Prevalence Worldwide. IARC CancerBase No. 5. version 2.0, *LARCPress*. Lyon.
- Field J e Duffy S. (2008) Lung Cancer Screening: The Way Forward. Br J Cancer, 99(4), 557-562.
- Flowers N e Miles P. (1991) Alterations of Pulmonary Benzo[a]Pyrene Metabolism by Reactive Oxygen Metabolites. *Toxicology*, 68(3), 259–74.
- Foulkes WD. (2008) Inherited Susceptibility to Common Cancers. N Engl J Med, 359, 2143–2153.
- Fournier J e Pezerat H. (1986) Studies on Surface Properties of Asbestos: Iii. Interactions between Asbestos and Polynuclear Aromatic Hydrocarbons. *Environ Res*, 41(1), 276–295.
- Fung H, Kow Y, Van Houten B e Mossman B. (1997) Patterns of 8-Hydroxydeoxyguanosine Formation in DNA and Indications of Oxidative Stress in Rat and Human Pleural Mesothelial Cells after Exposure to Crocidolite Asbestos. *Carcinogenesis*, 18(4), 825–832.
- Gao S, Worm J, Guldberg P, Eiberg H, Krogdahl A, Sørensen J, Liu C, Reibel J e Dabelsteen E. (2004) Loss of Heterozygosity at 9q33 and Hypermethylation of the Dbccr1 Gene in Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma. Br J Cancer, 91(4), 760–4.
- Garnis C, Lockwood WW, Vucic E, Ge Y, Girard L, Minna JD, Gazdar AF, Lam S, MacAulay C e Lam WL. (2006) High Resolution Analysis of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cell Lines by Whole Genome Tiling Path Array Cgh. *Int J Canc*, 118(6), 1556–1564.
- Gautier L, Cope L, Bolstad B e Irizarry R. (2004) Affy--Analysis of Affymetrix Genechip Data at the Probe Level. Bioinformatics, 20(3), 307–15.
- Gazzano E, Turci F, Foresti E, Putzu MG, Aldieri E, Silvagno F, Lesci IG, Tomatis M, Riganti C, Romano C, et al. (2007) Iron-Loaded Synthetic Chrysotile: A New Model Solid for Studying the Role of Iron in Asbestos Toxicity. *Chem Res Toxicol*, 20(3), 380–387.
- Girard L, Zochbauer-Muller S, Virmani AK, Gazdar AF e Minna JD. (2000) Genome-Wide Allelotyping of Lung Cancer Identifies New Regions of Allelic Loss, Differences between Small Cell Lung Cancer and Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, and Loci Clustering. *Cancer Res*, 60(17), 4894–4906.
- Gloyne S. (1935) Two Cases of Squamous Carcinoma of the Lung Occurring in Asbestosis. *Tubercle*, 17, 5–10.
- Greenberg D. (1982) Asbestos Lung Disease. Sem in Respir Med, 4(2), 130-136.
- Greenberg M. (2004) The British Approach to Asbestos Standard Setting: 1898–2000. Am J Ind Med, 46(5), 534–541.
- Gronbaek K, Ralfkiaer U, Dahl C, Hother C, Burns J, Kassem M, Worm J, Ralfkiaer E, Knudsen L, Hokland P, et al. (2008) Frequent Hypermethylation of Dbc1 in Malignant Lymphoproliferative Neoplasms. *Mod Pathol*, 21(5), 632–638.

- Gusev Y. (2008) Computational Methods for Analysis of Cellular Functions and Pathways Collectively Targeted by Differentially Expressed Microrna. *Methods*, MicroRNAs: Part B, 44(1), 61–72.
- Gustavsson P, Nyberg F, Pershagen G, Scheele P, Jakobsson R e Plato N. (2002) Low-Dose Exposure to Asbestos and Lung Cancer: Dose-Response Relations and Interaction with Smoking in a Population-Based Case-Referent Study in Stockholm, Sweden. *Am J Epidemiol*, 155(11), 1016–1022.
- Hagemeyer O, Otten H e Kraus T. (2006) Asbestos Consumption, Asbestos Exposure and Asbestos-Related Occupational Diseases in Germany. Int Arch Occup Environ Health, 79(8), 613–620.
- Hanahan D e Weinberg RA. (2000) The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell, 100(1), 57-70.
- Hansen H.(2008) Textbook of Lung Cancer. London: Informa Healthcare.
- Hardy JA e Aust AE. (1995) The Effect of Iron Binding on the Ability of Crocidolite Asbestos to Catalyze DNA Single-Strand Breaks. *Carcinogenesis*, 16(2), 319–325.
- Haugen A e Harris C. (1982) Asbestos Carcinogenesis: Asbestos Interactions and Epithelial Lesions in Cultured Human Tracheobronchial Tissues and Cells. *Recent Results Cancer Res*, 82,.32–42.
- Hecht SS. (1999) Tobacco Smoke Carcinogens and Lung Cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 91(14), 1194–1210.
- Hei TK, Piao CQ, He ZY, Vannais D e Waldren CA. (1992) Chrysotile Fiber Is a Strong Mutagen in Mammalian Cells. *Cancer Res*, 52(22), 6305–6309.
- Hei TK, He ZY e Suzuki. K. (1995) Effects of Antioxidants on Fiber Mutagenesis. Carcinogenesis, 16(7), 1573–1578.
- Hei T, Wu L e Piao C. (1997) Malignant Transformation of Immortalized Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells by Asbestos Fibers. *Environ Health Perspect*, 105(Suppl 5), 1085–8.
- Henderson D, Rödelsperger K, Woitowitz H e Leigh J. (2004) After Helsinki: A Multidisciplinary Review of the Relationship between Asbestos Exposure and Lung Cancer, with Emphasis on Studies Published During 1997–2004. *Pathology*, 36(6), 517–50.
- Herceq Z, Hainaut P. (2007) Genetic and epigenetic alterations as biomarkers for cancer detection, diagnosis and prognosis. *Mol Oncol*, 1(1), 26–41.
- Herbst RS, Heymach JV e Lippman SM. Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med, 359(13), 1367-1380.
- Hessel PA, Gamble JF e McDonald JC. (2005) Asbestos, Asbestosis, and Lung Cancer: A Critical Assessment of the Epidemiological Evidence. *Thorax*, 60(5), 433–436.
- Hetherington L. (2008) World Mineral Production 2002–2006: British Geological Survey.
- Hoffmann D, Rivenson A, Hecht SS. (1996) The biological significance of tobacco-specific N-nitrosamines: smoking and adenocarcinoma of the lung. Crit Rev Toxicol, 26(2), 199–211.
- Holland AJ e Cleveland DW. (2009) Boveri Revisited: Chromosomal Instability, Aneuploidy and Tumorigenesis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 10(7), 478–487.

Hotelling H. (1936) Relations between Two Sets of Variates. Biometrika, 28, 321-377.

- Huang S, Saggioro D, Michelmann H e Malling H. (1978) Genetic Effects of Crocidolite Asbestos in Chinese Hamster Lung Cells. *Mutat Res*, 57(2), 225–32.
- Huggins J e Sahn S. (2004) Causes and Management of Pleural Fibrosis. Respirology, 9(4), 441-447.
- Husgafvel-Pursiainen K, Hackman P, Ridanpää M, Anttila S, Karjalainen A, Partanen T, Taikina-Aho O, Heikkilä L e Vainio H. (1993) K-Ras Mutations in Human Adenocarcinoma of the Lung: Association with Smoking and Occupational Exposure to Asbestos. Int J Cancer, 53(2), 250–6.
- Husgafvel-Pursiainen K, Karjalainen A, Kannio A, Anttila S, Partanen T, Ojajarvi A e Vainio H. (1999) Lung Cancer and Past Occupational Exposure to Asbestos. Role of P53 and K-Ras Mutations. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 20(4), 667–74.
- Höglund M, Gisselsson D, Hansen GB e Mitelman F. (2004) Statistical Dissection of Cytogenetic Patterns in Lung Cancer Reveals Multiple Modes of Karyotypic Evolution Independent of Histological Classification. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 154(2), 99–109.
- Irizarry RA, Bolstad BM, Collin F, Cope LM, Hobbs B e Speed TP. (2003) Summaries of Affymetrix Genechip Probe Level Data. *Nucl Acids Res*, 31(4), e15.
- Ivanov SV, Miller J, Lucito R, Tang C, Ivanova AV, Pei J, Carbone M, Cruz C, Beck A, Webb C, et al. (2009) Genomic Events Associated with Progression of Pleural Malignant Mesothelioma. Int J Cancer, 124(3), 589–599.
- Izumi H, Inoue J, Yokoi S, Hosoda H, Shibata T, Sunamori M, Hirohashi S, Inazawa J e Imoto I. (2005) Frequent Silencing of Dbc1 Is by Genetic or Epigenetic Mechanisms in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancers. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(8), 997–1007.
- Jaurand M. (1997) Mechanisms of Fiber-Induced Genotoxicity. *Environ Health Perspect*, 105(S5), 1073–84.
- Jensen C, Jensen L, Rieder C, Cole R e Ault J. (1996) Long Crocidolite Asbestos Fibers Cause Polyploidy by Sterically Blocking Cytokinesis. *Carcinogenesis*, 17(9), 2013–21.
- Johnson N e Jaramillo R. (1997) P53, Cip1, and Gadd153 Expression Following Treatment of A549 Cells with Natural and Man-Made Vitreous Fibers. *Environ Health Perspect*, 105(Suppl 5), 1143–5.
- Jones PA e Baylin SB. (2002) The Fundamental Role of Epigenetic Events in Cancer. Nat Rev Genet, 3(6), 415–428.
- Kahlos K, Soini Y, Säily M, Koistinen P, Kakko S, Pääkkö P, Holmgren A e Kinnula V. Up-Regulation of Thioredoxin and Thioredoxin Reductase in Human Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma. Int J Cancer, 95(3), 198–204.
- Kallioniemi A, Kallioniemi O, Sudar D, Rutovitz D, Gray J, Waldman F e Pinkel D. (1992) Comparative Genomic Hybridization for Molecular Cytogenetic Analysis of Solid Tumors. *Science*, 258(5083), 818–21.
- Kamp D, Panduri V, Weitzman S e Chandel N. (2002) Asbestos-Induced Alveolar Epithelial Cell Apoptosis: Role of Mitochondrial Dysfunction Caused by Iron-Derived Free Radicals. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 234-235(1-2), 153–60.

Kamp DW. (2009) Asbestos-Induced Lung Diseases: An Update. Transl Res, 153(4), 143-152.

- Karjalainen A, Anttila S, Heikkilä L, Karhunen P e Vainio H. (1993) Asbestos Exposure among Finnish Lung Cancer Patients: Occupational History and Fiber Concentration in Lung Tissue. Am J Ind Med, 23(3), 461–71.
- Karjalainen A, Anttila S, Vanhala E e Vainio H. (1994) Asbestos Exposure and the Risk of Lung Cancer in a General Urban Population. Scand J Work Environ Health, 20(4), 243–50.
- Kettunen E, el-Rifai W, Björkqvist AM, Wolff H, Karjalainen A, Anttila S, Mattson K, Husgafvel-Pursiainen K e Knuutila S. (2000) A Broad Amplification Pattern at 3q in Squamous Cell Lung Cancer--a Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization Study. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 117(1), 66–70.
- Kettunen E, Nissén AM, Ollikainen T, Taavitsainen M, Tapper J, Mattson K, Linnainmaa K, Knuutila S, El-Rifai W. (2001) Gene expression profiling of malignant mesothelioma cell lines: cDNA array study. *Int J Cancer*, 91(4), 492–6.
- Kilburn K, Lilis R, Anderson H, Boylen C, Einstein H, Johnson S e Warshaw R. (1985) Asbestos Disease in Family Contacts of Shipyard Workers. *Am J Public Health*, 75(6), 615–617.
- Kim JS, Kim H, Shim YM, Han J, Park J e Kim D-H. (2004) Aberrant Methylation of the Fhit Gene in Chronic Smokers with Early Stage Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Lung. *Carcinogenesis*,25(11), 2165–2171.
- Kinnula VL, Pietarinen-Runtti P, Raivio K, Kahlos K, Pelin K, Mattson K e Linnainmaa K. (1996) Manganese Superoxide Dismutase in Human Pleural Mesothelioma Cell Lines. Free Radic Biol Med, 21(4), 527–532.
- Kinnula VL, Linnala A, Viitala E, Linnainmaa K e Virtanen I. (1998) Tenascin and Fibronectin Expression in Human Mesothelial Cells and Pleural Mesothelioma Cell-Line Cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 19(3), 445–452.
- Kirschner LS e Stratakis CA. (2000) Structure of the Human Ubiquitin Fusion Gene Uba80 (Rps27a) and One of Its Pseudogenes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 270(3), 1106–1110.
- Kivipensas P, Bjorkqvist AM, Karhu R, Pelin K, Linnainmaa K, Tammilehto L, Mattson K, Kallioniemi OP e Knuutila S. (1996) Gains and Losses of DNA Sequences in Malignant Mesothelioma by Comparative Genomic Hybridization. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 89(1), 7–13.
- Knudson AJ. (1971) Mutation and Cancer: Statistical Study of Retinoblastoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 68(4), 820–3.
- Korpela M e Hollmen J. (2006) Extending an Algorithm for Clustering Gene Expression Time Series. PMSB, p. 120–124.
- Krick S, Eul BG, Hanze J, Savai R, Grimminger F, Seeger W e Rose F. (2005) Role of Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1 {Alpha} in Hypoxia-Induced Apoptosis of Primary Alveolar Epithelial Type Ii Cells. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 32(5), 395–403.
- Krupp W, Holland H, Koschny R, Bauer M, Schober R, Kirsten H, Livrea M, Meixensberger J e Ahnert P. (2008) Genome-Wide Genetic Characterization of an Atypical Meningioma by Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism Array-Based Mapping and Classical Cytogenetics. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 184(2), 87–93.

- LaCroix L, Commo F e Soria J-C. (2008) Gene Expression Profiling of Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. Exp Rev Mol Diagn, 8(2), 167–178.
- LaDou J. (2004) The Asbestos Cancer Epidemic. Environ Health Perspect, 112(3), 285-90.
- Lam TK, Ruczinksi I, Helzlsouer K, Shugart YY, Li KE, Clipp S, Strickland PT, Alberg AJ. (2009) Copy Number Variants Of GSTM1 And GSTT1 In Relation To Lung Cancer Risk In A Prospective Cohort Study. *Ann Epid*, 19(8), 546–552.
- Landrigan P, Nicholson W, Suzuki Y e Ladou J. (1999) The Hazards of Chrysotile Asbestos: A Critical Review. *Ind Health*, 37(3), 271–280.
- Lange J, Hoskins JA, Mastangelo G. (2006) Smoking rates in asbestos workers. Occup Med, 56(8), 581.
- Lee B, Wain J, Kelsey K, Wiencke J e Christiani D. (1998) Association of Cigarette Smoking and Asbestos Exposure with Location and Histology of Lung Cancer. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 157(3), 748–755.
- Lee PN. (2001) Relation between Exposure to Asbestos and Smoking Jointly and the Risk of Lung Cancer. Occup Environ Med, 58(3), 145–153.
- Levin M. (1987) The Greatest Health Protection in Cigarette History, available at http://www. aliciapatterson.org/APF1005/Levin/Levin.html.
- Lewis B, Burge C e Bartel D. (2005) Conserved Seed Pairing, Often Flanked by Adenosines, Indicates That Thousands of Human Genes Are Microrna Targets. *Cell*, 120(1), 15–20.
- Li Y, Sheu C-C, Ye Y, de Andrade M, Wang L, Chian S-C, Aubry MC, Aakre JA, Allen MS, Chen F et al. (2010) Genetic Variants And Risk Of Lung Cancer In Never Smokers: A Genome-Wide Association Study. Lancet Oncol, 11(4), 321–330.
- Liddell FDK. (1997) Magic, Menace, Myth and Malice. Ann Occup Hyg, 41(1), 3-12.
- Lin F, Liu Y, Liu Y, Keshava N e Li S. (2000) Crocidolite Induces Cell Transformation and P53 Gene Mutation in Balb/C-3t3 Cells. *Teratog Carcinog Mutagen*, 20(5), 273–281.
- Lin R, Takahashi K, Karjalainen A, Hoshuyama T, Wilson D, Kameda T, Chan C, Wen C, Furuya S, Higashi T, et al. (2007) Ecological Association between Asbestos-Related Diseases and Historical Asbestos Consumption: An International Analysis. Lancet, 369(9564), 844–9.
- Lindholm P, Salmenkivi K, Vauhkonen H, Nicholson A, Anttila S, Kinnula V e Knuutila S. (2007) Gene Copy Number Analysis in Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma Using Oligonucleotide Array CGH. *Cytogenet genome res*, 119(1–2).
- Liu B, Fu D, Miao Q, Wang H e You B. (1998) P53 Gene Mutations in Asbestos Associated Cancers. *Biomed Environ Sci*, 11(3), 226–32.
- Liu P, Vikis HG, Wang D, Lu Y, Wang Y, Schwartz AG, Pinney SM, Yang P, de Andrade M, Petersen GM *et al.* (2008) Familial aggregation of common sequence variants on 15q24-25.1 in lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 100(18), 1326–30.
- Lohani M, Dopp E, Becker H-H, Seth K, Schiffmann D e Rahman Q. (2002) Smoking Enhances Asbestos-Induced Genotoxicity, Relative Involvement of Chromosome 1: A Study Using Multicolor Fish with Tandem Labeling. *Taxicol Lett*, 136(1), 55–63.

- Longo WE, Rigler MW e Slade J. (1995) Crocidolite Asbestos Fibers in Smoke from Original Kent Cigarettes. *Cancer Res*, 55(11), 2232–2235.
- Lu J, Keane M, Ong T e Wallace W. (1994) In Vitro Genotoxicity Studies of Chrysotile Asbestos Fibers Dispersed in Simulated Pulmonary Surfactant. *Mutat Res*, 320(4), 253–9.
- Lucci-Cordisco E, Zollino M, Baglioni S, Mancuso I, Lecce R, Gurrieri F, Crucitti A, Papi L, Neri G e Genuardi M. (2005) A Novel Microdeletion Syndrome with Loss of the Msh2 Locus and Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer. *Clin Genet*, 67(2), 178–182.
- Lund LG e Aust AE. (1992) Iron Mobilization from Crocidolite Asbestos Greatly Enhances Crocidolite-Dependent Formation of DNA Single-Strand Breaks in Ox174 Rfi DNA. *Carcinogenesis*, 13(4), 637–642.
- Lynch K e Smith W. (1935) Pulmonary Asbestosis. Iii Carcinoma of Lung in Asbestos-Silicosis. *Am J Cancer*, 24, 56–64.
- MacCorkle R, Slattery S, Nash D e Brinkley B. (2006) Intracellular Protein Binding to Asbestos Induces Aneuploidy in Human Lung Fibroblasts. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 63(10), 646–657.
- Marczynski B, Czuppon A, Marek W, Reichel G e Baur X. (1994) Increased Incidence of DNA Double-Strand Breaks and Anti-Ds DNA Antibodies in Blood of Workers Occupationally Exposed to Asbestos. *Hum Exp Taxicol*, 13(1), 3–9.
- Marsit CJ, Hasegawa M, Hirao T, Kim D-H, Aldape K, Hinds PW, Wiencke JK, Nelson HH e Kelsey KT. (2004) Loss of Heterozygosity of Chromosome 3p21 Is Associated with Mutant Tp53 and Better Patient Survival in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Res*, 64(23), 8702–8707.
- Matsuo Y, Akiyama N, Nakamura H, Yodoi J, Noda M e Kizaka-Kondoh S. (2001) Identification of a Novel Thioredoxin-Related Transmembrane Protein. J Biol Chem, 276(13), 10032–10038.
- Matyakhina L, Pack S, Kirschner LS, Pak E, Mannan P, Jaikumar J, Taymans SE, Sandrini F, Carney JA e Stratakis CA. (2003) Chromosome 2 (2p16) Abnormalities in Carney Complex Tumours. J Med Genet, 40(4), 268–277.
- Merlo A, Gabrielson E, Mabry M, Vollmer R, Baylin SB e Sidransky D. (1994) Homozygous Deletion on Chromosome 9p and Loss of Heterozygosity on 9q, 6p, and 6q in Primary Human Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Res*, 54(9), 2322–2326.
- Metzker ML. (2010) Sequencing Technologies the Next Generation. Nat Rev Genet, 11(1), 31-46.
- Michelland S, Gazzeri S, Brambilla E e Robert-Nicoud M. (1999) Comparison of Chromosomal Imbalances in Neuroendocrine and Non-Small-Cell Lung Carcinomas. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 114(1), 22–30.
- Miura Y, Nishimura Y, Katsuyama H, Maeda M, Hayashi H, Dong M, Hyodoh F, Tomita M, Matsuo Y, Uesaka A, et al. (2006) Involvement of Il-10 and Bcl-2 in Resistance against an Asbestos-Induced Apoptosis of T Cells. Apoptosis, 11(10), 1825–35.
- Mossman B e Churg A. (1998) Mechanisms in the Pathogenesis of Asbestosis and Silicosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 157(5), 1666–1680.
- Mossman BT, Lounsbury KM, Reddy SP. (2006) Oxidants and signaling by mitogen-activated protein kinases in lung epithelium. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 34, 666–669.

- Msiska Z, Pacurari M, Mishra A, Leonard SS, Castranova V e Vallyathan V. DNA Double Strand Breaks by Asbestos, Silica and Titanium Dioxide: Possible Biomarker of Carcinogenic Potential? *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 2009–0062OC.
- Narasimhan SR, Yang L, Gerwin BI e Broaddus VC. (1998) Resistance of Pleural Mesothelioma Cell Lines to Apoptosis: Relation to Expression of Bcl-2 and Bax. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 275(1), L165–171.
- Nelson H, Wiencke J, Gunn L, Wain J, Christiani D e Kelsey K. (1998) Chromosome 3p14 Alterations in Lung Cancer: Evidence That Fhit Exon Deletion Is a Target of Tobacco Carcinogens and Asbestos. *Cancer Res*, 58(9), 1804–7.
- Nelson HH, Christiani DC, Wiencke JK, Mark EJ, Wain JC e Kelsey KT. (1999) K-Ras Mutation and Occupational Asbestos Exposure in Lung Adenocarcinoma: Asbestos-Related Cancer without Asbestosis. *Cancer Res*, 59(18), 4570-4573.
- Nelson H e Kelsey K. (2002) The Molecular Epidemiology of Asbestos and Tobacco in Lung Cancer. Oncogene, 21(48), 7284–8.
- Neri M, Ugolini D, Dianzani I, Gemignani F, Landi S, Cesario A, Magnani C, Mutti L, Puntoni R e Bonassi S. (2008) Genetic Susceptibility to Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma and Other Asbestos-Associated Diseases. *Mut Res*, 659(1–2), 126–136.
- Newman Taylor A. (2009) Asbestos, Lung Cancer and Mesothelioma in the British Journal of Industrial Medicine. Occup Environ Med, 66(7), 426–427.
- Nicholson W. (2001) The Carcinogenicity of Chrysotile Asbestos--a Review. Ind Health, 39(2), 57–64.
- Nishiyama H, Gill J, Pitt E, Kennedy W e Knowles M. (2001) Negative Regulation of G1/S Transition by the Candidate Bladder Tumour Suppressor Gene Dbccr1. *Oncogene*, 20(23), 2956–64.
- Nozaki S, Sledge JG e Nakshatri H. (2001) Repression of Gadd153/Chop by Nf-Kappab: A Possible Cellular Defense against Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress-Induced Cell Death. Oncogene, 20(17), 2178–2185.
- Nuorva K, Mäkitaro R, Huhti E, Kamel D, Vähäkangas K, Bloigu R, Soini Y e Pääkkö P. (1994) P53 Protein Accumulation in Lung Carcinomas of Patients Exposed to Asbestos and Tobacco Smoke. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 150(2), 528–33.
- Nymark P, Wikman H, Hienonen-Kempas T e Anttila S. (2008) Molecular and Genetic Changes in Asbestos-Related Lung Cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 265(1), 1–15.
- Nymark P, Kettunen E, Knuutila S. (2009) Tumors of the Lung, in Heim S & Mitelman F (eds), *Cancer Cytogenetics* (3rd edition), New Jersey: Wiley-Blackwell, p. 415–428.
- Obe G, Pfeiffer P, Savage JR, Johannes C, Goedecke W, Jeppesen P, Natarajan AT, Martínez-López W, Folle GA, Drets ME. (2002) Chromosomal aberrations: formation, identification and distribution. *Mutat Res*, 504(1–2), 17–36.
- Ogiwara H, Kohno T, Nakanishi H, Nagayama K, Sato M e Yokota J. (2008) Unbalanced Translocation, a Major Chromosome Alteration Causing Loss of Heterozygosity in Human Lung Cancer. Oncogene, 27(35), 4788–4797.

- Ollikainen T, Puhakka A, Kahlos K, Linnainmaa K e Kinnula VL. (2000) Modulation of Cell and DNA Damage by Poly(Adp)Ribose Polymerase in Lung Cells Exposed to H2o2 or Asbestos Fibres. *Mutat Res*, 470(1), 77–84.
- Otsuka T, Kohno T, Mori M, Noguchi M, Hirohashi S e Yokota J. (1996) Deletion Mapping of Chromosome 2 in Human Lung Carcinoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 16(2), 113–119.
- Pache J, Janssen Y, Walsh E, Quinlan T, Zanella C, Low R, Taatjes D e Mossman B. (1998) Increased Epidermal Growth Factor-Receptor Protein in a Human Mesothelial Cell Line in Response to Long Asbestos Fibers. *Am J Pathol*, 152(2), 333–40.
- Panani AD e Roussos C. (2006) Cytogenetic and Molecular Aspects of Lung Cancer. *Cancer Lett*, 239(1), 1–9.
- Pande P, Mosleh TA e Aust AE. (2006) Role of [Alpha]V[Beta]5 Integrin Receptor in Endocytosis of Crocidolite and Its Effect on Intracellular Glutathione Levels in Human Lung Epithelial (A549) Cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 210(1–2), 70–77.
- Panduri V, Surapureddi S, Soberanes S, Weitzman SA, Chandel N e Kamp DW. (2006) P53 Mediates Amosite Asbestos-Induced Alveolar Epithelial Cell Mitochondria-Regulated Apoptosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, 34(4), 443–452.
- Paris C, Benichou J, Saunier F, Metayer J, Brochard P, Thiberville L e Nouvet G. (2003) Smoking Status, Occupational Asbestos Exposure and Bronchial Location of Lung Cancer. Lung Cancer, 40(1), 17–24.
- Park SG, Schimmel P e Kim S. (2008) Aminoacyl Trna Synthetases and Their Connections to Disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105(32), 11043–11049.
- Pelin K, Hirvonen A, Taavitsainen M e Linnainmaa K. (1995) Cytogenetic Response to Asbestos Fibers in Cultured Human Primary Mesothelial Cells from 10 Different Donors. *Mutat Res*, 334(2), 225–33.
- Perkins RC, Broaddus VC, Shetty S, Hamilton S e Idell S. (1999) Asbestos Upregulates Expression of the Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Receptor on Mesothelial Cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 21(5), 637–646.
- Petersen I, Bujard M, Petersen S, Wolf G, Goeze A, Schwendel A, Langreck H, Gellert K, Reichel M, Just K, et al. (1997) Patterns of Chromosomal Imbalances in Adenocarcinoma and Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Lung. *Cancer Res*, 57(12), 2331–5.
- Petersen I, Kotb WF, Friedrich K-H, Schlüns K, Böcking A e Dietel M. (2009) Core Classification of Lung Cancer: Correlating Nuclear Size and Mitoses with Ploidy and Clinicopathological Parameters. *Lung Cancer*, 65(3), 312–318.
- Peterson MW e Kirschbaum J. (1998) Asbestos-Induced Lung Epithelial Permeability: Potential Role of Nonoxidant Pathways. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 275(2), L262–268.
- Peto J. (2001) Cancer Epidemiology in the Last Century and the Next Decade. *Nature*, 411(6835), 390–5.
- Pezerat H. (2009) Chrysotile Biopersistence: The Misuse of Biased Studies. Int J Occup Environ Health, 15(1), 102–106.
- Pfeifer GP e Rauch TA. (2009) DNA Methylation Patterns in Lung Carcinomas. Semin Cancer Biol, 19(3), 181–187.

- Piao C, Zhao Y e Hei T. (2001) Analysis of P16 and P21(Cip1) Expression in Tumorigenic Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells Induced by Asbestos. Oncogene, 20(50), 7301–7306.
- Pinkel D, Straume T, Gray JW. (1986) Cytogenetic analysis using quantitative, high-sensitivity, fluorescence hybridization. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 83, 2936–2938.
- Plisiecka-Halasa J, Dansonka-Mieszkowska A, Kraszewska E, Danska-Bidzinksa A e Kupryjanczyk J. (2008) Loss of Heterozygosity, Microsatellite Instability and Tp53 Gene Status in Ovarian Carcinomas. *Anticancer Res*, 28(2A), 989–996.
- Ponder BAJ. (2001) Cancer Genetics. Nature, 411(6835), 336-341.
- Puhakka A, Ollikainen T, Soini Y, Kahlos K, Säily M, Koistinen P, Pääkko P, Linnainmaa K e Kinnula VL. (2002) Modulation of DNA Single-Strand Breaks by Intracellular Glutathione in Human Lung Cells Exposed to Asbestos Fibers. *Mutat Res*, 514(1–2), 7–17.
- Pylkkänen L, Sainio M, Ollikainen T, Mattson K, Nordling S, Carpén O, Linnainmaa K e Husgafvel-Pursiainen K. (2002a) Concurrent Loh at Multiple Loci in Human Malignant Mesothelioma with Preferential Loss of Nf2 Gene Region. Oncol Rep, 9(5), 955–959.
- Pylkkänen L, Wolff H, Stjernvall T, Tuominen P, Sioris T, Karjalainen A, Anttila S e Husgafvel-Pursiainen K. (2002b) Reduced Fhit Protein Expression and Loss of Heterozygosity at Fhit Gene in Tumours from Smoking and Asbestos-Exposed Lung Cancer Patients. Int J Oncol, 20(2), 285–90.
- Pääkkö P, Rämet M, Vähäkangas K, Korpela N, Soini Y, Turunen S, Jaworska M, Gillissen A. (1998) Crocidolite asbestos causes an induction of p53 and apoptosis in cultured A-549 lung carcinoma cells *Apoptosis*, 3, 203–212.
- Ramsay G. (1998) DNA chips: state-of-the-art. Nat Biotechnol, 16(1), 40-44.
- Redon R, Ishikawa S, Fitch KR, Feuk L, Perry GH, Andrews TD, Fiegler H, Shapero MH, Carson AR, Chen W, Cho EK *et al.* (2006) Global variation in copy number in the human genome. *Nature*, 444(7118), 444–54.
- Reid A, de Klerk NH, Ambrosini GL, Berry G e Musk AW. (2006) The Risk of Lung Cancer with Increasing Time since Ceasing Exposure to Asbestos and Quitting Smoking. Occup Environ Med. 63(8), 509–512.
- Rozen S e Skaletsky H. (2000) Primer3 on the Www for General Users and for Biologist Programmers. *Methods Mol Biol*, (132), 365–86.
- Ruosaari S e Hollmén J. (2002) Image Analysis for Detecting Faulty Spots from Microarray Images. Let Notes Comput Sci., (2534), 259–266.
- Ruosaari S, Hienonen-Kempas T, Puustinen A, Sarhadi V, Hollmen J, Knuutila S, Saharinen J, Wikman H e Anttila S. (2008a) Pathways Affected by Asbestos Exposure in Normal and Tumour Tissue of Lung Cancer Patients. *BMC Med Genomics*, 1(1), 55.
- Ruosaari S, Nymark P, Aavikko M, Kettunen E, Knuutila S, Hollmen J, Norppa H e Anttila S. (2008b) Aberrations of Chromosome 19 in Asbestos-Associated Lung Cancer and in Asbestos-Induced Micronuclei of Bronchial Epithelial Cells in Vitro. *Carcinogenesis*, 29(5), 913–917
- Samet JM, Avila-Tang E, Boffetta P, Hannan LM, Olivo-Marston S, Thun MJ e Rudin CM. (2009) Lung Cancer in Never Smokers: Clinical Epidemiology and Environmental Risk Factors. *Clin Cancer Res*, 15(18), 5626–5645.
- Sanchez-Cespedes M, Ahrendt SA, Piantadosi S, Rosell R, Monzo M, Wu L, Westra WH, Yang SC, Jen J, Sidransky D. (2001) Chromosomal alterations in lung adenocarcinoma from smokers and nonsmokers. *Cancer Res*, 61, 1309–1313.
- Sato M, Shames DS, Gazdar AF e Minna JD. (2007) A Translational View of the Molecular Pathogenesis of Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol, 2(4), 327–343.
- Schabath M, Spitz M, Delclos G, Gunn G, Whitehead L, Wu X. (2002) Association between asbestos exposure, cigarette smoking, myeloperoxidase (MPO) genotypes, and lung cancer risk. Am J Ind Med, 42, 29–37.
- Schwartz M, Zlotorynski E e Kerem B. (2006) The Molecular Basis of Common and Rare Fragile Sites. *Cancer Lett*, 232(1), 13–26.
- Shen H, Gao W, Wu Y-J, Qiu H-R e Shu Y-Q. (2009) Multicolor Fluorescence in Situ Hybridization and Comparative Genomic Hybridization Reveal Molecular Events in Lung Adenocarcinomas and Squamous Cell Lung Carcinomas. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 63(6), 396–403.
- Schetter AJ, Heegaard NH, Harris CC. (2009) Inflammation and cancer: interweaving microRNA, free radical, cytokine and p53 pathways. *Carcinogenesis*, 31(1), 37–49.
- Shukla A, Jung M, Stern M, Fukagawa NK, Taatjes DJ, Sawyer D, Van Houten B e Mossman BT. (2003a) Asbestos Induces Mitochondrial DNA Damage and Dysfunction Linked to the Development of Apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 285(5), L1018–1025.
- Shukla A, Ramos-Nino M e Mossman B. (2003b) Cell Signaling and Transcription Factor Activation by Asbestos in Lung Injury and Disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 35(8), 1198–1209.
- Siemiatycki J, Richardson L, Straif K, Latreille B, Lakhani R, Campbell S, Rousseau M-C e Boffetta P. (2004) Listing Occupational Carcinogens. *Environ Health Perspect*, 112(15), 1447–1459.
- Silvestri GA, Alberg AJ e Ravenel J. (2009) The Changing Epidemiology of Lung Cancer with a Focus on Screening. *Br Med J*, 339, b3053.
- Skaug B, Jiang X e Chen ZJ. (2009) The Role of Ubiquitin in Nf-Î^ob Regulatory Pathways. Ann Rev Biochem, 78(1), 769–796.
- Slebos RJC, Umbach DM, Sommer CA, Horner GA, Choi JY, Taylor JA. (2004) Analytical and statistical methods to evaluate microsatellite allelic imbalance in small amounts of DNA. *Lab Invest*, 84(5), 649–657.
- Soh J, Toyooka S, Ichihara S, Asano H, Kobayashi N, Suehisa H, Otani H, Yamamoto H, Ichimura K, Kiura K, et al. (2008) Sequential Molecular Changes During Multistage Pathogenesis of Small Peripheral Adenocarcinomas of the Lung. J Thorac Oncol, 3(4), 340–347.
- Stanton M e Wrench C. (1972) Mechanisms of Mesothelioma Induction with Asbestos and Fibrous Glass. J Natl Cancer Inst, 48(3), 797–821.
- Storchova Z e Kuffer C. (2008) The Consequences of Tetraploidy and Aneuploidy. J Cell Sci, 121(Pt 23), 3859–3866.

- Subramanian J e Govindan R. (2007) Lung Cancer in Never Smokers: A Review. J Clin Oncol, 25(5), 561–570.
- Subramanian J e Govindan R. (2008) Molecular Genetics of Lung Cancer in People Who Have Never Smoked. *Lancet Oncol*, 9(7), 676–682.
- Sun S, Schiller JH e Gazdar AF. (2007) Lung Cancer in Never Smokers--a Different Disease. Nat Rev Cancer, 7(10), 778–790.
- Suzuki M, Piao C, Zhao Y e Hei T. (2001) Karyotype Analysis of Tumorigenic Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells Transformed by Chrysolite Asbestos Using Chemically Induced Premature Chromosome Condensation Technique. Int J Mol Med, 8(1), 43–7.
- Suzuki Y, Yuen S e Ashley R. (2005) Short, Thin Asbestos Fibers Contribute to the Development of Human Malignant Mesothelioma: Pathological Evidence. Int J Hyg Environ Health, 208(3), 201-210.
- Tan R, Fattman C, Watkins S e Oury T. (2004) Redistribution of Pulmonary Ec-Sod after Exposure to Asbestos. J Appl Physiol, 97(5), 2006–2013.
- Tan T-T e Coussens LM. (2007) Humoral Immunity, Inflammation and Cancer. Curr Opin Immunol, 19(2), 209-216.
- Taniguchi T, Karnan S, Fukui T, Yokoyama T, Tagawa H, Yokoi K, Ueda Y, Mitsudomi T, Horio Y, Hida T, et al. (2007) Genomic Profiling of Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma with Array-Based Comparative Genomic Hybridization Shows Frequent Non-Random Chromosomal Alteration Regions Including Jun Amplification on 1p32. Cancer Sci, 98(3), 438–446.
- Testa JR e Siegfried JM. (1992) Chromosome Abnormalities in Human Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. *Cancer Res*, 52(suppl 9), 2702s–2706.
- The Gene Ontology Consortium. (2001) Creating the Gene Ontology Resource: Design and Implementation. *Genome Res*, 11(8), 1425–1433.
- Toh C-K. (2009) The Changing Epidemiology of Lung Cancer. Methods Mol Biol, 472, 397-411.
- Tonon G, Brennan C, Protopopov A, Maulik G, Feng B, Zhang Y, Khatry DB, You MJ, Aguirre AJ, Martin ES *et al.* Common and contrasting genomic profiles among the major human lung cancer subtypes. *Cold Spring Harb Symb Quant Biol*, 70, 11–24.
- Travis WD, Brambilla E, Müller-Hermelink HK e Harris CC, eds (2004) Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of the Lung, Pleura, Thymus and Heart. World Health Organization Classification of Tumours; vol 10. Lyon, France: IARC Press.
- Tuna M, Knuutila S e Mills GB. (2009) Uniparental Disomy in Cancer. *Trends Mol Med*, 15(3), 120–128.
- Tweedale G. (2001) *Magic Mineral to Killer Dust*: Turner & Newall and the Asbestos Hazard. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tylecote F. (1927) Cancer of the Lung. Lancet, 2, 256-257.
- Upadhyay D e Kamp DW. (2003) Asbestos-Induced Pulmonary Toxicity: Role of DNA Damage and Apoptosis. *Exp Biol Med*, 228(6), 650–659.

- Vainio H, Husgafvel-Pursiainen K, Anttila S, Karjalainen A, Hackman P e Partanen T. (1993) Interaction between Smoking and Asbestos in Human Lung Adenocarcinoma: Role of K-Ras Mutations. *Environ Health Perspect*, 101(Suppl 3), 189–92.
- Vainio H e Boffetta P. (1994) Mechanisms of the Combined Effect of Asbestos and Smoking in the Etiology of Lung Cancer. Scand J Work Environ Health, 20(4), 235–42.
- Valerio F, De Ferrari M, Ottaggio L, Repetto E e Santi L. (1980) Cytogenetic Effects of Rhodesian Chrysotile on Human Lymphocytes in Vitro. LARC Sci Publ, 30, 485–9.
- VIRTA R. (2005) Mineral Commodity Profiles—Asbestos: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1255-KK. Available online: http://pubs.usgs.gov/circ/2005/1255/kk/Circ_1255KK.pdf
- Virta R. (2006) Worldwide Asbestos Supply and Consumption Trends from 1900 through 2003: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 1298. Available only online: http://pubs.usgs.gov/ circ/2006/1298/c1298.pdf
- Wang X, Christiani D, Wiencke J, Fischbein M, Xu X, Cheng T, Mark E, Wain J e Kelsey K. (1995) Mutations in the P53 Gene in Lung Cancer Are Associated with Cigarette Smoking and Asbestos Exposure. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 4(5), 543–8.
- Wang X, Samet JM e Ghio AJ. (2006) Asbestos-Induced Activation of Cell Signaling Pathways in Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells. *Exp Lung Res*, 32(6), 229–243.
- Weir BA, Woo MS, Getz G, Perner S, Ding L, Beroukhim R, Lin WM, Province MA, Kraja A, Johnson LA, et al. (2007) Characterizing the Cancer Genome in Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Nature*, 450(7171), 893–898.
- WHO. (2007) Who Calls for Prevention of Cancer through Healthy Workplaces. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available online: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/ notes/2007/np19/en/index.html
- Wikman H, Nymark P, Väyrynen A, Jarmalaite S, Kallioniemi A, Salmenkivi K, Vainio-Siukola K, Husgafvel-Pursiainen K, Knuutila S, Wolf M, *et al.* (2005) Cdk4 Is a Probable Target Gene in a Novel Amplicon on 12q13.3–Q14.1 in Lung Cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 42(2), 193–9.
- Wikman H, Ruosaari S, Nymark P, Sarhadi V, Saharinen J, Vanhala E, Karjalainen A, Hollmén J, Knuutila S e Anttila S. (2007) Gene Expression and Copy Number Profiling Suggests the Importance of Allelic Imbalance in 19p in Asbestos-Associated Lung Cancer. Oncogene, 26(32), 4730–7.
- Wong MP, Lam WK, Wang E, Chiu SW, Lam CL e Chung LP. (2002) Primary Adenocarcinomas of the Lung in Nonsmokers Show a Distinct Pattern of Allelic Imbalance. *Cancer Res*, 62(15), 4464–4468.
- Wraith D e Mengersen K. Assessing the Combined Effect of Asbestos Exposure and Smoking on Lung Cancer: A Bayesian Approach. *Stat Med*, 26(5), 1150–1169.
- Xie C, Reusse A, Dai J, Zay K, Harnett J, Churg A. (2000) TNF-alpha increases tracheal epithelial asbestos and fiberglass binding via a NF-kappa B-dependent mechanism. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, 279, L608–L614.

- Xinarianos G, Liloglou T, Prime W, Maloney P, Callaghan J, Fielding P, Gosney JR e Field JK. (2000) Hnd Hmsh2 Expression Correlates with Allelic Imbalance on Chromosome 3p in Non-Small Cell Lung Carcinomas. *Cancer Res*, 60(15), 4216–4221.
- Xu A, Smilenov L, He P, Masumura K, Nohmi T, Yu Z e Hei T. (2007) New Insight into Intrachromosomal Deletions Induced by Chrysotile in the Gpt Delta Transgenic Mutation Assay. *Environ Health Perspect.*, 115(1), 87–92.
- Xu LL, Stackhouse BG, Florence K, Zhang W, Shanmugam N, Sesterhenn IA, Zou Z, Srikantan V, Augustus M, Roschke V, et al. (2000) PSGR, a Novel Prostate-Specific Gene with Homology to a G Protein-Coupled Receptor, Is Overexpressed in Prostate Cancer. Cancer Res, 60(23), 6568–6572.
- Yan W, Song L, Liang Q e Fang Y. (2005) Progression Analysis of Lung Squamous Cell Carcinomas by Comparative Genomic Hybridization. *Tumour Biol*, 26(3), 158–164.
- Yanaihara N, Caplen N, Bowman E, Seike M, Kumamoto K, Yi M, Stephens RM, Okamoto A, Yokota J, Tanaka T, et al. (2006) Unique Microrna Molecular Profiles in Lung Cancer Diagnosis and Prognosis. Cancer Cell, 9(3), 189–198.
- Yang H, Bocchetta M, Kroczynska B, Elmishad AG, Chen Y, Liu Z, Bubici C, Mossman BT, Pass HI, Testa JR, Franzoso G, Carbone M. (2006) TNF-{alpha} inhibits asbestos-induced cytotoxicity via a NF-{kappa}B-dependent pathway, a possible mechanism for asbestosinduced oncogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 10397–10402.
- Yap YL, Wong MP, Zhang XW, Hernandez D, Gras R, Smith DK e Danchin A. (2005) Conserved Transcription Factor Binding Sites of Cancer Markers Derived from Primary Lung Adenocarcinoma Microarrays. Nucl Acids Res, 33(1), 409–421.
- You M, Wang D, Liu P, Vikis H, James M, Lu Y, Wang Y, Wang M, Chen Q, Jia D, Liu Y et al. (2009) Fine mapping of chromosome 6q23-25 region in familial lung cancer families reveals RGS17 as a likely candidate gene. *Clin Cancer Res*, 15(8), 2666–74.
- Yuan Z, Taatjes DJ, Mossman BT, Heintz NH. (2004) The duration of nuclear extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 signaling during cell cycle reentry distinguishes proliferation from apoptosis in response to asbestos. *Cancer Res*, 64, 6530–6536.
- Zabarovsky E, Lerman M e Minna J. (2002) Tumor Suppressor Genes on Chromosome 3p Involved in the Pathogenesis of Lung and Other Cancers. *Oncogene*, 21(45), 6915–6935.
- Zanella CL, Timblin CR, Cummins A, Jung M, Goldberg J, Raabe R, Tritton TR, Mossman BT. (1999) Asbestos-induced phosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor is linked to c-fos and apoptosis. *Am J Physiol*, 277(4 Pt 1), L684–93.

Asbestos is still a serious problem all around the world, even though the devastating health effects of breathing in the microscopically tiny mineral fibres have been known for over a century. Asbestos exposure causes a variety of severe pulmonary diseases and unfortunately due to the long latency period between exposure and development of disease, this epidemic will continue, even in countries where asbestos use has been banned for many years.

Asbestos-related lung cancer is one of the most common types of occupational cancer. It is clinically indistinguishable from lung cancer in patients with no known history of asbestos exposure and the treatment is the same for both etiologic types. Nevertheless, the molecular basis may be different and diagnosis as well as prognosis and treatment strategies may benefit from the identification of specific asbestos-related molecular alterations. In addition, these kinds of molecular correlates could be of importance in resolving some of the medico-legal issues arising from occupational diseases.

This study sheds light on the molecular alterations related to asbestos exposure in lung cancer and may point the way for the development of molecular-based clinical methods for asbestosrelated lung cancer.

Orders: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Topeliuksenkatu 41 a A FI-00250 Helsinki Finland

Fax +358-9 477 5071 E-mail kirjakauppa@ttl.fi www.ttl.fi/bookstore

ISBN 978-951-802-982-6 (paperback) 978-951-802-983-3 (PDF) ISSN-L 1237-6183 ISSN 1237-6183

Cover photograph: A bronchoalveolar lavage sample with macrophages attempting to engulf an asbestos body, formed on a crocidolite asbestos fibre (courtesy of S. Anttila).

